

ΝΟΜΙΚΗ ΣΧΟΛΗ

Π.Μ.Σ.: Δημόσιο Δίκαιο

ΕΙΔΙΚΕΥΣΗ: Δημόσιο Χρηματοπιστωτικό Δίκαιο

ΠΑΝΕΠΙΣΤΗΜΙΑΚΟ ΕΤΟΣ: 2020-2021

ΔΙΠΛΩΜΑΤΙΚΗ ΕΡΓΑΣΙΑ της Σταματίας Στυλιανοπούλου του Χαραλάμπους Α.Μ.: 7340012520023

The EU Legal Framework on Green Bonds

Επιβλέποντες:

Ονοματεπώνυμα επιβλεπόντων:

- α) Χρήστος Γκόρτσος, Καθηγητής
- β) Γεώργιος Δελλής, Καθηγητής
- γ) Αικατερίνη Ηλιάδου, Αναπληρώτρια Καθηγήτρια

Αθήνα, 30 Νοεμβρίου 2021

Copyright © [Stamatia Ch. Stylianopoulou, 30.11.2021]

Με επιφύλαξη παντός δικαιώματος. All rights reserved.

Απαγορεύεται η αντιγραφή, αποθήκευση και διανομή της παρούσας εργασίας, εξ ολοκλήρου ή τμήματος αυτής, για εμπορικό σκοπό. Επιτρέπεται η ανατύπωση, αποθήκευση και διανομή για σκοπό μη κερδοσκοπικό, εκπαιδευτικής ή ερευνητικής φύσης, υπό την προϋπόθεση να αναφέρεται η πηγή προέλευσης και να διατηρείται το παρόν μήνυμα.

Οι απόψεις και θέσεις που περιέχονται σε αυτήν την εργασία εκφράζουν τον συγγραφέα και δεν πρέπει να ερμηνευθεί ότι αντιπροσωπεύουν τις επίσημες θέσεις του Εθνικού και Καποδιστριακού Πανεπιστημίου Αθηνών.

....to my Family Charalambos, Eirini, Aliki, Stelios and Andreas for their constant patience, faith and love and to Professor Ch.V. Gortsos for his valuable guidance.

Abstract

The present study contains a concise and concurrently a comprehensive and detailed overview of the European (EU) Legal Framework on Green Bonds. It is structured in two Sections. Section A titled "The Green Bond Market" consists of an overview of how the green bond market created and its rapid development, while it defines the concept of green bonds, and illustrates the different types of green bonds. The first section also presents the most two widely known market-based standards, the Green Bond Principle and the Climate Bond Standard. Section B focuses on the European legal framework on green bonds and respectively the legal acts that have been adopted or proposed, which aim to enhance 'green finance' and boost sustainable growth in the EU. Mostly, Section B discusses in detail the proposal Regulation on Green Bonds focusing on the most important provisions. Lastly, Section B presents the recent initiative of the European Commission to issue the first European green bond, called "NextGenerationEU".

Keywords: Green bonds, sustainable finance, sustainable development, ESG, EU Taxonomy Regulation, Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation, Low Carbon Benchmarks Regulation, European Commission Action Plan on Financing Sustainable Growth, European Commission Action Plan on Building a Capital Markets Union, High-Level Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (HLEG), European Green Deal, International Platform on Sustainable Finance, Technical Expert Group (TEG), Paris Agreement, Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), European Green Bonds Proposal Regulation (EuGBR), Next Generation EU (NGEU).

The cut-off date for information contained in this study is 20 November 2021.

Table of Contents

Table of Abbreviations
Introduction
Section A: The Green Bond Market 12
1.From the creation of the green bond market to its rapid growth
2. The concept of Green Bonds and the existing types in the Capital Markets
3.Market - based green bond standards: Green Bond Principles and Climate Bond
Standard
3.1. An overview of International Capital Markets Association's Green Bond Principle 14
3.1.1. The four core principles for harmonizing with the 'Green Bond Principle' Standard
3.1.2. Key Recommendations: Green Bond Frameworks and External Reviews
3.2. Climate Bonds Standard
Section B: The EU Legal Framework on Green Bonds
1. The EU's strategy on promoting sustainable finance and the path for the creation of the
legal framework for the issuance of Green Bonds in the Union
2.The Taxonomy Regulation
2.1. An overview of the Criteria for the determination of Taxonomy aligned economic
activities
2.2. The importance of the technical screening criteria
3. The European Green Bond Proposal for a Regulation (EuGBR)
3.2. The content of the European Green Bond proposal
3.2.1. The fundamental features of the European Commission's proposal
3.2.2. Powers of competent authorities in relation with the disclosure requirements 43
3.2.3. Registration and supervision of external reviewers
3.2.4. Organizational requirements, processes and documents concerning governance 47
3.2.5. Provision of services by third-country external reviewers
3.2.6. Supervisory and investigatory powers conferred upon the ESMA
4. The first green bond issuance by the European Commission - "NextGenerationEU" 54
Section C. Concluding Remarks 55

Table of Abbreviations

ABS Asset Backed Securities

AP4 Fourth Swedish National Pension Fund

BNPP Banque Nationale de Paris Paribas

CapEx Capital Expenditures

CBS Climate Bond Standard

CRA Credit Rating Agency

ESG Environmental, Social, Governance

ESMA European Securities and Markets Authority

EU European Union

EuGB European Green Bond

EuGBR European Green Bond Regulation

GAR Green Assets Ratio

GBP Green Bond Principles

HLEG High-Level Expert Group for Sustainable Finance

ICMA International Capital Market Association

ILO International Labour Organization

JRC Joint Research Centre

KPI Key Performance Indicator

MBS Mortgage-Backed Securities

MIFID Markets in Financial Instruments Directive

NGEU Next-Generation-EU

OpEx Operating Expenditures

PIMCO Pacific Investment Management Company

SDGs Sustainable Development Goals

SFDR Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation

TEG Technical Expert Group for Sustainable Finance

UN United Nations

Introduction

"Promoting long-term and green finance is one of the priorities of the Capital Markets Union Action Plan. Green Bonds are an important instrument to raise capital market finance for environmentally-friendly and more sustainable investments. The new High-Level Expert Group on sustainable finance will help define towards greener capital markets."

Extract from the speech of the Vice-President Valdis Dombrovskis, responsible for the Euro and Social Dialogue, also in charge of Financial Stability, Financial Services and Capital Markets Union¹, at the Commission's press release putting forward a new strategy to make the EU's financial system more sustainable and proposing new European Green Bond Standard, 6 July 2021, Brussels.

Over the last few years, the European Union has become substantially more ambitious in dealing with climate change. The Commission has already taken revolutionary steps to structure the foundations for sustainable finance. Sustainability is also the main characteristic of the European Union's recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic and the financial sector will play an essential role in contributing to meet the targets of the European Green Deal.

The European Green Deal clarified that important investments are necessary across all sectors of the economy to transition to a climate-neutral economy and reach the European Union's environmental sustainability objectives. Specifically, the European Green Deal pointed out that it should be made easier for investors and companies to identify environmentally sustainable investments and assure that they are reliable. It was highlighted that this could be performed through clear labels for retails investment products and by developing a European green standard that make easier environmentally sustainable investment in the most appropriate way.

In the absence of a European legislative framework for green bonds, the European Green Deal Investment Plan declared in January 2020 the establishment of a green bond standard. The European Council in December 2020² pointed out the significance of developing

¹ Regarding the Capital Markets Union, see European Commission (2015).

² See European Council (2020), p. 5 et seq.

common, global standards for 'green finance' and suggested the European Commission to submit a legislative proposal for a green bond standard by June 2021. In July 2021, the European Commission proposed a voluntary European green bond standard (EUGBS) that will set a 'gold standard' for how the private sector and public authorities may use green bonds to raise funds on capital markets in order to finance sustainable investments and protect investors from 'greenwashing'.

Nowadays, the green bond market has illustrated a remarkable expansion in Europe representing a constantly growing share in the total bond market. Green Bonds constitute a significant innovation through their focus on green use of proceeds, monitoring, and impact reporting and external reviews. Green bonds aspire to improve the ability of debt capital markets to raise capital finance environmental and sustainable economic activities as well as providing investors the opportunity to share in financial returns disposed to a transition to a sustainable, low carbon world. Moreover, green bond market benefits investors through diversification and risk management in their portfolios and through the investment in responsible and ethical economic activities. On the contrary, issuers are pushed into issuing green bonds not for financial but mainly for reputational gains³.

The following study contains a short but comprehensive overview of the green bond market and concurrently an illustration of the European Union legal framework on green bonds.

_

³ For a different thought see **Schmittmann J. and Teng C.H. (2021),** p. 10 et seq.

Section A: The Green Bond Market

1. From the creation of the green bond market to its rapid growth

It is widely believed that Green Bond Market⁴ is the next big thing for investors⁵.Before presenting the concept of European Green Bonds and their huge and rapid development and growth, it is worth mentioning how it all began.

The story began in 2007, when the European Investment Bank ⁶ issued "a climate awareness bond", which is extensively seen as the first bond with a green label⁷. The same year, a group of pension funds from Sweden were interested to invest in projects that help the environment, but they didn't know how to find these projects. Therefore, these pension funds turned to the World Bank. Less than a year later, and specifically in 2008, the World Bank issued a Green Bond and with it created the way to connect financing from investors to environmental projects. The World Bank created the blueprint for sustainable investing in the capital markets⁸.

2. The concept of Green Bonds and the existing types in the Capital Markets

Green Bond is a typical bond⁹, namely a type of debt issued by public or private institutions to finance themselves and, unlike other financial instruments, they commit the use of the funds obtained to specific environmental projects¹⁰. Otherwise, green bonds are fixed income securities designed to finance investments with environmental or climate-related

⁴For a detailed overview of the sustainable bond market, see European Securities and Markets Authority (2021), p. 48 et seq.

⁵Although, "the green bond market remains a dwarf" of the overall bond market, see **Deschryver and Mariz** (2020), under 4.

⁶For a Green Bond Market Overview, see **Tang D.Y. and Zhang Y. (2018)** p. 5 et seq.

⁷See Ehlers and Packer (2017), p. 90.

⁸For more details on World's Bank green bond issuance, see **The World Bank (2018): "From Evolution to Revolution: 10 Years of Green Bonds (2018)"**.

⁹"Bonds are financial products through which the issuer borrows money with interest and which provides that at its maturity, it will pay the lender its original capital. Interest to the creditor may also be paid before maturity on regular and pre-agreed dates (6 months, annual and monthly). Bonds are divided into two categories: a) Corporate Bonds and b) Government Bonds". For further details see, Athens Stock Exchange: Bonds (2021)

¹⁰ According to the European Commission, "Green bonds are debt instruments issued to finance investment projects that are meant to have positive environmental or climate effects", see **European Commission** (2020b), p. 1.

Similarly, as per ICMA, "Green Bonds are any type of bond instrument where the proceeds will be exclusively applied to finance or re-finance, in part or in full, new and/or existing eligible Green Projects", see International Capital Markets Association (2018).

benefits¹¹. In view of G20's Green Finance Synthesis Report "Green bonds are an integral component of green finance more generally, which aims to internalize environmental externalities and adjust risk perceptions" for the sake of increasing environmentally friendly investments"¹². What diversify a green bond from conventional bonds is the focus on green projects and the detailed reporting on the allocation of proceeds and the environmental impact thereof¹³. At this point, an elucidation is considered completely necessary, green bonds are not the same as social bonds or sustainability bonds. According to ICMA¹⁴: "Social Bonds are any type of bond instrument where the proceeds, or an equivalent amount, will be exclusively applied to finance or re-finance in part or in full new and/or existing eligible Social Projects, namely projects aiming to address or mitigate a specific social issue and/or seek to achieve positive social outcomes" ¹⁵, while "Sustainability Bonds are any type of bond instrument where the proceeds or an equivalent amount will be exclusively applied to finance or re-finance a combination of both Green and Social Projects" ¹⁶.

According to ICMA, there are four types of Green Bonds¹⁷. Listed below as follows:

- 1. **Standard Green Use of Proceeds Bond:** a standard recourse-to-the-issuer-debt obligation aligned with the Green Bond Principles (GBP).
- 2. **Green Revenue Bond:** a non-recourse-to the issuer debt obligation aligned with the GBP, in which the credit exposure in the bond is to the pledged cash flows of the revenue streams, fees, taxes etc., and whose use of proceeds goes to the related or unrelated Green Project.
- 3. Green Project Bond: a project bond for a single or multiple Green Project(s) for

¹¹ See Ehlers T. and Packer F. (2017) p. 89.

¹² Ibid., see p. 89 and G20 Green Finance Study Group (2016) p. 3.

¹³For a detailed overview of the opinion that green bonds have a different price, see Fatica S., Panzica R. and Rancan M., (2019). However, it is strongly argued that green bonds aren't priced differently, see Karpf and Mandel (2017) and Larcker and Watts (2019).

¹⁴ International Capital Markets Association (ICMA) is a not-for-profit membership association, headquartered in Zurich, for financial market participants providing among other services, principal frameworks for green bonds, social bonds, sustainability bonds, and sustainability-linked bonds.

¹⁵ See International Capital Markets Association (2021c) p. 3.

¹⁶ See International Capital Markets Association (2021d) p. 3

¹⁷It is worth mentioning that Blue Bonds that exist too in the market, namely Bonds with the exclusive purpose to use the funds obtained to sustainable maritime resources and the promotion of related sustainable economic activities. Such "Blue Bonds" are also Green Bonds as long as they align with the four core components of the GBP.

which the investor has direct exposure to the risk of the project(s) with or without potential recourse to the issuer, and that is aligned with the GBP.

4. **Green Securitized Bond:** a bond collateralized by one or more specific green Project(s), including but not limited to covered bonds, ABS, MBS¹⁸, and other structures and aligned with the Green Bond Principle (GBP). The cash flows of the assets are the first source of repayment¹⁹.

3. Market – based green bond standards: Green Bond Principles and Climate Bond Standard

3.1. An overview of International Capital Markets Association's Green Bond Principle

In the absence²⁰ of a worldwide accepted classification and reference standard²¹, the green bond market currently is based on private governance status²². There are two widely known market-based standards. Firstly, the Green Bond Principles (GBP), which is a voluntary process guideline for issuing Green Bonds. These principles describe best practices, when issuing green bonds through international guidelines and recommendations promoting transparency and disclosure. On the other hand, Climate Bonds Standard (CBS) seeks to allow investors to easily assess the climate credentials and environmental integrity of green bonds.

In particular, the most well-known standard for issuing green bond was adopted by the International Capital Market Association (ICMA) in 2014. Green Bond Principle²³, as mentioned above, constitutes voluntary process guidelines recommending transparency

¹⁸An asset-backed security (ABS) is a type of financial investment that is collateralized by an underlying pool of assets usually ones that generate a cash flow from debt, such as loans, credit card balances, or receivables, while mortgage-backed securities (MBS) are bonds secured by home and other real estate loans. They are created when a number of these loans, usually with similar characteristics, are pooled together.

¹⁹See International Capital Markets Association (2021b), p. 8.

²⁰Numerous market participants concern about the absence of a uniform disclosure requirements relied on standardized templates, see **Barclays** (2015), p. 6.

²¹Many financial institutions have also developed their own taxonomies for internal use, for instance the Fourth Swedish National Pension Fund (AP4), Pacific Investment Management Company (PIMCO), Banque Nationale de Paris Paribas (BNPP), Deutsche Bank and Natixis, see **G20 Sustainable Finance Study Group** (2021) p. 16.

²²See European Commission (2020b), p. 1.

²³For a detailed analysis on the International Capital Markets Association's Green Bond Principle, see **Thomson S. (2021),** p. 250 et seq.

and disclosure and at the same time promoting integrity in the development of the Green Bond market by specifying the approach for issuance of a Green Bond²⁴. The establishment of the Green Bond Principles by the ICMA, was greatly facilitates the standardization of the green bond market and sparked its major development²⁵.

According to the edition of 2021 of the Green Bond Principles²⁶, "Green Bonds are any type of bond instrument where the proceeds or an equivalent amount will be exclusively applied to finance or re-finance, in part or in full, new and/or existing eligible Green Projects and which are aligned with the four core components of the GBP". The four core principles for harmonizing with the GBP are the following:

- 1. Use of Proceeds
- 2. Process for Project Evaluation and Selection
- 3. Management of Proceeds
- 4. Reporting

In addition to the abovementioned core principles, the GBP set out two further recommendations for increased transparency:

- 1. Green Bond Frameworks
- 2. External Reviews²⁷.

3.1.1. The four core principles for harmonizing with the 'Green Bond Principle' Standard

The Lydia stone of the green bonds is the use of the proceeds of the bond for specific environmental projects (i.e. the green purpose), which should be properly described in its legal documentation. The proceeds raised should be used to finance or re-finance projects that provide clear environmental benefits, which should be assessed, and where achievable, quantified by the issuer ²⁸. The GBP explicitly recognize various broad categories of eligibility for Green Projects, which contribute to environmental objectives such

²⁴See International Capital Markets Association (2021b), p. 4.

²⁵See EU Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2019b), p. 16.

²⁶See International Capital Markets Association (2021b), p. 3.

²⁷ For a detailed overview on the different types of external reviews see **International Capital Markets Association (2021a)**, p. 3 et seq.

²⁸See International Capital Markets Association (2021b), p. 4.

as: climate change mitigation, climate change adaptation, natural resource conservation, biodiversity conservation, and pollution prevention and control.

Under the project evaluation and selection process, it is envisaged that the issuers should provide investors with all the necessary information, in order to be assessed the environmental sustainability objectives of the eligible Green Projects, and the process by which the issuer determined how these projects fit within the eligible Green Projects categories. Moreover, the issuer should complementary inform the investors on processes by which the issuer identifies and manages perceived social environmental risks associated with the relevant project(s). Finally, issuers are strongly encouraged to inform investors on the alignment of projects with official or market-based taxonomies, related eligibility criteria, including if applicable, exclusion criteria. Also, issuers are encouraged to disclose any green standards or certifications referenced in project selection²⁹.

According to the third green bond principles' feature, investors should be informed about the management of proceeds. The net proceeds of the Green Bond, or an amount equal to these net proceeds, should be credited to a sub-account, moved to a sub-portfolio or otherwise tracked by the issuer in an appropriate manner, and certified by the issuer in a formal internal process linked to the issuer's lending and investment operations for eligible Green Projects.

Pending the green Bond, the balance of the tracked net proceeds should be periodically adjusted to match allocations to eligible Green Projects made during that period. The issuer should make known to investors the intended types of temporary placement for the balance of unallocated net proceeds.

The GBP encourage a high level of transparency and recommend that an issuer's management of proceeds be supplemented with the assistance of an external auditor, or other third party, to verify the internal tracking method and the allocation of funds from the Green Bond proceeds³⁰. The proceeds can be managed twofold, namely either on the bondby bond approach or an aggregated basis for multiple green bonds (portfolio approach)³¹.

²⁹See International Capital Markets Association (2021b), p. 5.

³⁰See below **Section A under 3.1.2.**

³¹See International Capital Markets Association (2021b) p. 6.

Lastly, regarding the reporting requirements, issuers are encouraged to keep up information fully updated and renewed on an annual basis on the use of proceeds. This annual report should include a list of projects to which Green Bonds proceeds have been allocated, as well as brief description of the projects, the amounts allocated and their expected impact. In case of confidential agreements, competitive considerations, or a large number of underlying projects limit the amount of detail that can be made available, it is recommended that information is presented in generic terms or on an aggregate portfolio basis ³². Also, in respect of transparency, the GBP recommend the use of qualitative performance indicators and, where possible, quantitative performance measures and disclosure of the key underlying methodology and/or assumptions used in the quantitative determination.

3.1.2. Key Recommendations: Green Bond Frameworks and External Reviews

In order to promote a high level of transparency, issuers are encouraged to explain the alignment of their Green Bond with the four abovementioned core components of the GBP (namely the use of proceeds, the process for project evaluation and selection, the management of proceeds and the Reporting, (see above Section A under 3.1.1.) in a Green Bond Framework or in their legal documentation. Issuers are, also, highly recommended to summarize in the afore-mentioned framework relevant information as part of the issuer's sustainability strategy, including a reference to the five high level environmental objectives of the GBP³³.

Secondly, it is recommended that issuers should appoint an external review³⁴ provider to assess, through a pre-issuance external review, the alignment of their Green Bond and/or Framework with the four core components of the GBP (see above Section A under 3.1.1.). At a post issuance level, an issuer's management of proceeds or other third party should verify the internal tracking and the allocation of funds from the Green Bond proceeds to

³²E.g., percentage allocated to certain project categories, see **International Capital Markets Association** (2021b) p. 6.

³³Indicatively, a) climate change mitigation, b) climate change adaptation, c) natural resource conservation, d) biodiversity conservation e and e) pollution prevention and control. For more details, see **International Capital Markets Association (2021b)** p. 7.

³⁴Issuers prefer their green bonds to be certified in order to attract the full attention of investors, see **Baker** et al. (2018), p. 20.

eligible Green Projects³⁵.

3.2. Climate Bonds Standard

The Climate Bond Initiative is an investor-focused not-for-profit organization, promoting large scale investments that will deliver a global low carbon resilient economy. In December 2010, this organization announced the development of the Climate Bond Standard (CBS) and a year later, in 2011, the Climate Bond Initiative publicly released the first version of the Climate Bond Standard³⁶.

The Climate Bonds Standard³⁷ defines criteria in order to help the investors to verify certain green credentials of a bond. This Standard aspires to provide a sturdy approach in order to ensure that the funds are being used to finance projects and assets that consistent with delivering a low carbon and climate resilient economy. Moreover, it sets out the requirements for issuers seeking certification of their green bond by an independent Climate Bonds Standard Board. The Independent Climate Bond Standard Board is an external reviewer, who validates that the bond conforms to the prerequisites of the CBS and the issuer has in place the proper controls and processes³⁸. CBS requirements are divided into two phases: a) the pre-issuance and the b) post-issuance phase. The requirements of the pre-issuance phase need to be met by issuers, who aspire for a certification prior to issuance of the green bond unlike the requirements of the post-issuance phase that need to be met for issuers seeking constant certification of their green bond³⁹. In both cases, CBS requirements is moving forward from the four components determined by the Green Bond Principle (GBS)⁴⁰ seeking to create a powerful and efficient certification system.

As previously mentioned, the CBS is separated in two phases: the pre-issuance and the post issuance phase. For issuers seeking pre-issuance Climate Bond Certification, all the following requirements shall be met and particular:

³⁵See International Capital Markets Association (2021b) p. 7.

³⁶For a detailed analysis on Climate Bond Initiative's Climate Bonds Standard, see Thomson S. (2021) p. 256 et seq.

³⁷For a further analysis see **Ehlers and Packer (2017).**

³⁸See Ehlers T. and Packer F. (2017) p. 93.

³⁹See Climate Bonds Initiative (2019) p. 3 et seq.

⁴⁰See above **Section A under 3.1.**

- 1. Selection of Nominated Projects and Assets
- 2. Internal Processes and Controls
- 3. Reporting Prior to Issuance

On the contrary, for issuers seeking a continued Climate Bond Certification of the issued green bond, all the following requirements shall be met. The following requirements are separated into three categories:

- 1. General Requirements, that shall be met to be eligible for post-issuance certification
- 2. Eligible Projects and Assets
- 3. Requirements for Specific Bond Types

Regarding the Reporting, the CBS demand issuers to develop and disclose a Green Bond Framework prior to or at the time of issuance of a green bond. This document should describe how the issuer will meet the CBS requirements, including the use and management of proceeds and how the climate-related objectives of the green bond are positioned within the context of the issuer's environmental sustainability strategy. In the post-issuance phase, issuers are required to publish an annual report that should cover three areas of reporting: allocation, eligibility and impact⁴¹. Allocation reporting should provide information on the allocation of the bond's proceeds to eligible projects and assets. Eligibility reporting should cover the characteristics and performance of projects/assets to demonstrate their eligibility to be considered "green", while impact reporting, albeit non mandatory, is a disclosure of metrics or indicators which reflect the expected or actual impact of eligible projects and assets.

Section B: The EU Legal Framework on Green Bonds

1. The EU's strategy on promoting sustainable finance and the path for the creation of the legal framework for the issuance of Green Bonds in the Union

In principle, before the European initiatives for the development of the green bond market are presented, it is essential to mention the concept of sustainable finance, which is entirely contribute the development of the green bond market in the Union. Sustainable Finance has emerged as a response to dramatic climate change and environmental degradation.

⁴¹See Climate Bonds Initiative (2019) p. 8 et seq.

According to the European Commission, sustainable finance⁴² is captured as finance, which aspires to enhance economic growth while reducing pressures on the environment and in line with social and governance aspects. Moreover, sustainable finance contains transparency when it comes to risks related to ESG factors that may have an impact on the financial system, and the reduction of such risks through the proper governance of financial and corporate actors.

i. The UN's 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development

The countries around the world decided to jointly activate in order to set targets addressing the environmental crisis, as demonstrated by their support for the Union Nation's 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (hereby the "2030 Agenda"). The main and crucial reason behind this initiative was the dramatic consequences of climate change. On 25-27 September 2015 during the United Nation's Summit in New York, the Heads of State and Government and High Representatives decided to set International Sustainable Goals by adopting the 2030 Agenda. The "2030 Agenda" is setting 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDG), and 169 targets, aiming at eradicating poverty in all forms⁴³. The 2030 Agenda briefly seeks to eliminate poverty and accomplish sustainable development by 2030 around the globe.

ii. Paris Agreement on Climate Change

Subsequently, 196 countries realizing the huge crisis from climate change, decided to sign the Paris Agreement. Paris Agreement signed on 12 December 2015, in Paris, and entered into force on 4 November 2016. It is a legally binding international treaty on climate change. Its main objective is to limit global warming to well below 2%, ideally to 1, 5 % Celsius, compared to the preindustrial period 44. The Parties aim to reach global peaking of

_

⁴²See the official website of the **European Commission**, which includes, inter alia, the definition of sustainable finance, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/banking-and-finance/sustainable-finance/overview-sustainable-finance en

Similarly, 'Sustainable finance' can be understood as financing as well as related institutional and market arrangements that contribute to the achievement of strong, sustainable, balanced and inclusive growth, through supporting directly and indirectly the framework of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), see G20 Sustainable Finance Study Group (2018) p. 4.

⁴³ For more details on the UN's 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, see https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/. ⁴⁴See Council Decision (EU) 2016/1841 of 5 October 2016 on the conclusion, on behalf of the European Union, of the Paris Agreement adopted under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change.

greenhouse gas emissions as soon as possible in order to achieve a climate neutral world by mid-century. Finance needs to play a key role in order to achieve this climate neutral world as it has been reaffirmed in Article 2. (1) point (c) "Making finance flows consistent with a pathway towards low greenhouse gas emissions and climate resilient development"⁴⁵. Green bonds could be seen as one of the "green" financial products aiming at financing assets compatible with a low-carbon and climate resilient economy. Finally, according to Jyrki Katainen "the signature of the Paris Agreement marked a milestone for the world and the global economy"⁴⁶.

iii. High Level Expert Group (HLEG)

Considering the abovementioned developments, the European Commission decided to set up the High-Level Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (HLEG) on 22 December 2016, as announced in its communication on Capital Markets Union-Accelerating reform on 14September 2016⁴⁷. The HLEG consists of 20 senior experts from the financial sector, civil society, academia and observers from both European and international institutions. Group's mandate was to provide advice to the Commission on how to a)direct the flow of public and private capital towards sustainable investments, b) identify the steps that financial institutions and supervisor authorities should take to protect the stability of the financial system from environmental risks and c) expand these policies on a pan-European scale. On 31 January 2018, the HLEG adopted its final report, which determines strategic recommendations for a financial system that supports sustainable investments including 8 key recommendations and actions targeted at specific sectors of the financial system. In relation to green bonds, the 5th HLEG's recommendation stipulates that in order to "develop" official European sustainable finance standards, starting with one on green bonds. As a first step, the EU should introduce an official EU Green Bond Standard (EUGBS) and consider an EU Green Bond label or certificate to help the market to develop fully and to maximize its capacity to finance green projects that contribute to wider sustainability

Also, for further details on the Paris Agreement, see https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/english paris agreement.pdf

⁴⁵Paris Agreement, Article 2 (1) point (c) p. 3.

⁴⁶See EU High-Level Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2018), p. 2 et seq.

⁴⁷ See the **Communication on Capital Markets Union-Accelerating reform (2016)**: https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/HTML/?uri=CELEX:52016DC0601&from=EN

iv. European Union's Action Plan for Financing Sustainable Growth

On 8 March 2018, the European Commission, through a communication, presented the Action Plan for Financing Sustainable Growth. By adopting the UN's 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development in 2015 and the Paris Agreement on climate change in 2016⁴⁹, governments from around the world chose a more sustainable way of living for our planet and our economy. The abovementioned EC's Action Plan has the following three objectives:

- To reorient capital flows towards sustainable investment in order to achieve sustainable and inclusive growth;
- To manage financial risks stemming from climate change, environmental degradation, and social issues; and
- To promote transparency and long-termism in financial and economic activity⁵⁰.

The Action Plan on "Financing Sustainable Growth"⁵¹ laid down the foundations for a sustainable finance framework comprised of the following:

- An EU Taxonomy⁵², which sets out a unified classification system of economic activities fundamentally contributing to environmental objectives on science-based criteria;
- A Disclosure Regime, which applies to both financial and non-financial entities seeking to provide investors with the information necessary to make sustainable choices (i.e. Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation, Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive and Sustainability Preferences⁵³). This legal framework will introduce obligations on institutional investors and asset managers to disclose how they integrate ESG factors in their risk processes;

See the (EU) Taxonomy Regulation 2020/852 at https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/HTML/?uri=CELEX:32020R0852&from=EN

⁴⁸ See EU High-Level Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2018), p. 13 et seq.

⁴⁹See above **Section B** under 1(i) and 1(ii) respectively.

⁵⁰See recommendations from the final report of EU High-Level Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2018), which were submitted to the Commission on 31 January 2018 and also, see European Commission (2018) p. 2.

⁵¹See European Commission (2018).

⁵³ COM (2021) 188 final, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/HTML/?uri=CELEX:52021DC0188&from=EN. Moreover, for a detailed analysis of the sustainability disclosure obligations for the EU financial sector see **Busch D. (2021)**.

- An extensive toolbox for companies, market participants and financial intermediaries to develop sustainable investment solutions, including benchmarks and labels and standards, while preventing greenwashing (i.e. EU Climate Benchmarks, European Green Bond Standard⁵⁴); and
- The Commission has solicited feedback on amendments to delegated acts under the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID II) and the Insurance Distribution Directive to include ESG considerations into the advice that investment firms and insurance distributors offer to their clients⁵⁵.

As per the second objective of this Action Plan for Financing Sustainable Growth, standards and labels should be created for green financial products. The EC's TEG has been entrusted with the task for preparing a report on an EU green bond standard, building on current best practices and on the basis of the results of a public consultation. Furthermore, the EC will be responsible to specify, within the framework of the Prospectus Regulation, the content of the prospectus for green bond issuances, in order to provide potential investors with additional information. Lastly, the Commission will be competent to explore the use of the EU Ecolabel framework for specific financial products, to be applied once the EU taxonomy for sustainable economic activities is adopted⁵⁶.

v. Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (TEG)

Moving forward, the European Commission established a Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (TEG), in June 2018, synthesized of 35 members from civil society, academia, business and the financial sector, as well as additional members and observers from EU and international public bodies. This Technical Expert Group had a key role to assist the EU Commission in developing, in line with the Commission's legislative proposals of May 2018. The Commission legislative proposals were the following:

An EU classification system – the so-called EU taxonomy - to determine whether

⁵⁴These investments tools will offer and increased transparency to market participants. The EC aspires to work on further bond labels such as transition or sustainability-linked bonds by 2022 and by 2023 the EC will assess the positive effect of a general framework for labels for financial instruments financing the transition of the economy, by 2023. Lastly, the EC will examine labels for Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) benchmarks and minimum sustainability criteria for financial products that promote environmental or social characteristics see **European Commission (2021b)**.

⁵⁵ See European Commission (2021b).

⁵⁶See European Commission (2018) Action 2.

an economic activity is environmentally sustainable.

- An EU Green Bond Standard.
- Methodologies for EU climate benchmarks and disclosures for benchmarks.
- Guidance to improve corporate disclosures of climate-related information.

On 6 March 2019, the TEG published its interim report on an EU Green Bond Standard for public feedback and its final report in June 2019.TEG proposed that the EC should create a voluntary, non-legislative EU Green Bond Standard, in order the green bond market to be more efficient, transparent, comparable and credible and also, to encourage both issuers and investors to respectively issue/invest in EU green bonds⁵⁷.

vi. European Green Deal

On 11 December 2019, the European Commission initiated to move towards a more challenging direction, presenting the European Green Deal, which is an ambitious EU initiative to become the first climate-neutral continent by 2050. In particular, the European Green Deal will transform the EU into a modern, resource-efficient and competitive economy, ensuring no net emissions of greenhouse gases by 2050; economic growth will decouple from resource use and no person or no place left behind. Through the Green Deal, the European Union renews its commitment to achieving the goals of the Paris Agreement and contributes substantially to the implementation of the United Nations' 2030 Agenda and the Sustainable Development Goals (see above Section B under 1(i) and 1(ii) respectively)⁵⁸.

Among other things, European Green Deal foresees that the EU's long-term budget for the next (7) seven years will provide support for the green transition and consists of a package of proposals through which EU policies on climate, energy, land use, transport and taxation will be adapted to achieve a reduction in net greenhouse gas emissions of at least 55% by 2030 in comparison with 1990 levels⁵⁹.

⁵⁷See the High-Level Technical Expert Group (2019a), High-Level Technical Expert Group (2019b) and also see at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/business economy euro/banking and finance/documents/1906
18-sustainable-finance-teg-report-overview-green-bond-standard en.pdf

⁵⁸ See **European Commission (2019)** available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/strategy/priorities-2019-2024/european-green-deal en

⁵⁹See European Commission (2020a).

Aiming to achieve this target, the Communication on "European Green Deal" establishes that the EC is responsible to "review and propose to revise, where necessary, all relevant climate-related policy instruments by June 2021" In this direction, on 6 July 2021, the EC issued a Communication on "Strategy for Financing the Transition to a Sustainable Economy⁶¹", which was supplemented on 14 July 2021, by the Communication titled Fit for 55: delivering the EU's 2030 Climate Target in the way to climate neutrality⁶². The second communication was accompanied by the establishment of certain legislative proposals laying down how the EU intends to achieve climate neutrality by 2050, including the intermediate target of an at least 55% net reduction in greenhouse gas emission by 2030 63. The proposed targets/measures aspire to revise certain parts of EU Climate legislation covering a wide range of policy areas including energy, climate, taxation and transport⁶⁴.

2. The Taxonomy Regulation

As previously mentioned, the European Commission published on 8 March 2018 its Action Plan for Financing Sustainable Growth⁶⁵. According to Action 1 of this Plan, the reorient of capital flows for achieving a more sustainable economy, requires a unified classification system. Through this, the Commission will set out a legislative proposal ensuring the gradual development of EU taxonomy for climate change, environmentally and socially sustainable activities. Also, regarding Action 2 the Commission's Technical Expert Group on sustainable finance (TEG) will be responsible⁶⁶ for preparing a report on an EU green bond standard that relies on current best practices⁶⁷.

Based on the recommendations of the HLEG for the preparation of a unified classification system, the so-called EU Taxonomy, Europe needed a "technically robust classification"

⁶⁰See European Commission (2019).

⁶¹ For further details, see European Commission (2021c).

⁶²See European Commission (2021d).

⁶³For a detailed overview on the EU's 2030 Climate Target Plan see European Commission (2020a).

⁶⁴Maragopoulos N. (2021) p. 4 et seq.

⁶⁵See above in Section B, under 1(iv).

⁶⁶See above in Section B, under 1(v).

⁶⁷ According to the second action of the Action Plan on Financing Sustainable Growth, an EU standard accessible to market participants would facilitate channeling more investments into green projects and would constitute a basis for the development of reliable labeling of financial products, see **European Commission** (2018).

system to establish market clarity on what is 'green' or 'sustainable' ⁶⁸.' The ultimate EC's goal was to introduce a common sustainable finance and clarity starting with climate change ⁶⁹. In May 2018, the EC proposed a Regulation before the European Parliament and the Council "on the establishment of a framework to facilitate sustainable investment" and in December 2019, the Council and the European Parliament reached a political agreement on the Taxonomy Regulation (TR). Finally, following this political agreement, the Regulation (EU) 2020/852 was published on 18 June 2020 in the Official Journal of the EU⁷².

It is worth mentioning that the Taxonomy Regulation constitutes, along with Regulation 2019/2088 "on sustainability related disclosures in the financial sector" the so-called Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation (SFDR⁷³) and Regulation 2019/2089 the so-called Low Carbon Benchmarks Regulation (LCBR⁷⁴), the "regulatory trilogy" of the EC's 2015 Action Plan "on Building a Capital Markets Union" in relation to sustainable finance⁷⁵.

Considering the abovementioned, the EU Taxonomy Regulation is a unified classification system establishing a list of environmentally sustainable economic activities⁷⁶. First and foremost, the TR sets out the basis by establishing four overriding conditions that an economic activity needs to meet in order to be qualified as environmentally sustainable. The TR, as envisaged in the Action Plan, serves simultaneously the following two vital objectives: initially strives for facilitating cross-border investments in sustainable activities across the Union by establishing harmonized criteria on what can be defined as

- (

⁶⁸See EU High-Level Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2018) p. 13.

⁶⁹Ibid., p. 13.

⁷⁰ COM (2018) 353 final, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/en/ALL/?uri=CELEX%3A52018PC0353

⁷¹The **Taxonomy Regulation** (EU) 2020/852 is legally based on article 114 of TFEU.

⁷² See the **Taxonomy Regulation (EU) 2020/852** available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex:32020R0852

⁷³See the EU 2019/2088 "**Sustainable Disclosure Regulation**" available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A32019R2088

⁷⁴ See the EU 2019/2089 "**Low Carbon Benchmarks Regulation**" available at: https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32019R2089

⁷⁵For a detailed analysis of the TR, including its impact on the financial system, see **Gortsos Ch.V. (2021).**⁷⁶According to Article 26 (2) of the TR, the EC is mandated to publish a report by end of 2021 describing the provisions that would be required to extend the scope of the Taxonomy Regulation beyond environmentally sustainable economic activities and to cover, among others, other sustainability objectives, such as social objectives. For a more detailed analysis, see **Platform on Sustainable Finance (2021a).**

"sustainable" while aspires to reduce concerns about "greenwashing" In the context of the Taxonomy Regulation "greenwashing is the practice of gaining an unfair competitive advantage by marketing a financial product as environmentally friendly, when in fact basic environ". As per the first objective, the Taxonomy Regulation aspires to prevent a situation where Member States of the Union would use their national classification systems, in order to determine their economic activities as environmentally sustainable. Consequently, investors would be discouraged from investing across borders on account of difficulties in comparing different investment opportunities. To avoid this situation and at the same to time to prevent such obstacles in the future, the Taxonomy Regulation requires "to use a common concept of environmentally sustainable investment when introducing requirements at national and Union level regarding financial market participants or issuers for the purpose of labeling financial products or corporate bonds that are marketed as environmentally sustainable⁸⁰ as it may be for the European Green Bonds.

Additionally, the TR establishes disclosure obligations that complement the rules on sustainability-related disclosures laid down in Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 (SFDR) of the European Parliament and of the Council. Specifically, Articles 5-7 of the TR⁸¹ supplement the rules on transparency in pre-contractual disclosures and in periodic reports laid down in the SFDR aiming to promote transparency in the proportion of investments that fund environmentally sustainable economic activities⁸². Moreover, the TR imposes additional requirements to undertakings, which are subject to an obligation to publish a non-financial statement or a consolidated non-financial statement under Article 19a or Article 29a of Directive 2013/34/EU ("Non-Financial Reporting Directive") of the European Parliament and of the Council⁸³. These undertakings should disclose how and to what extent their activities are related to economic activities determined as environmentally sustainable pursuant to the Taxonomy Regulation⁸⁴.On 6 July 2021, the European Commission adopted

_

⁷⁷**TR**, Recital (12).

⁷⁸ See in detail about "greenwashing" phenomenon, **Flammer (2021)** p. 5 et seq.

⁷⁹Ibid., Recital (11).

⁸⁰ Ibid., Recital (14).

⁸¹Ibid., Articles 5-7.

⁸² Ibid., Recital (19).

⁸³See at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A32014L0095

⁸⁴**TR**, Recital (18).

a Delegated Regulation on "specifying the content and presentation of information to be disclosed by undertakings subject to Articles 19a or 29a of Directive 2013/34/EU concerning environmentally sustainable economic activities and specifying the methodology to comply with that disclosure obligation". This Delegated Regulation will start applying from January 2022⁸⁵ and requires from credit institutions to publish several Key Performances Indicators (KPIs)⁸⁶, of which the most essential is the Green Asset Ratio (GAR). The Green Asset Ratio (GAR) measures the proportion of a credit institution's assets invested in environmentally sustainable economic activities as a share of total relevant assets. The main GAR should cover the stock of credit institutions' existing onbalance assets. An additional GAR is provided for the flows (e.g. new loans and advances)⁸⁷.

2.1. An overview of the Criteria for the determination of Taxonomy aligned economic activities

As previously mentioned, the TR lays down the criteria in order to be determined whether an economic activity qualifies as environmentally sustainable for the purposes of establishing the degree to which an investment is environmentally sustainable⁸⁸. According to Valdis Dombrovskis, Commission Executive Vice-President responsible for Financial Stability, Financial Services and Capital Markets Union: "The adoption of the Taxonomy Regulation today is a milestone in our green agenda. It creates the world's first classification system for environmentally sustainable economic activities, which will give a substantial boost to sustainable investment.⁸⁹"

For the purpose for qualifying an economic activity as environmentally sustainable the following four conditions shall be met:

1. That economic activity contributes substantially to one or more of the following environmentally objectives: a) climate change mitigation 90, b) climate change

⁸⁵See at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=PI COM:C(2021)4987

⁸⁶See European Banking Authority (2021).

⁸⁷The Green Asset Ratio (GAR) indicates the proportion of the credit institution's assets financing and invested in taxonomy-aligned economic activities as a proportion of total covered assets. See at: https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52021SC0183

⁸⁸TR, Article 1.

⁸⁹See at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip 20 1112

⁹⁰TR, Article 2 point (5) "Climate change mitigation means the process of holding the increase in the global

- adaptation⁹¹, c) sustainable use and protection of water and marine resources,⁹² d) transition to a circular economy ⁹³, e) pollution prevention and control ⁹⁴, f) protection and restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems⁹⁵.
- 2. Furthermore, that economic activity should not significantly harm⁹⁶ any of the other environmental objectives⁹⁷. This criterion was set to avoid investments that qualify as environmentally sustainable in cases where the economic activities benefiting from these investments cause damage to the environment to an extent that compensates for their contribution to an environmental objective. This abovementioned assessment should give due account to both the environmental impact⁹⁸ of the activity itself and the environmental impact of the products and services provided by that activity throughout their life cycle, specifically by considering the production, use and end of life of those products and services⁹⁹.
- 3. That Activity is carried out with some minimum safeguards, namely procedures laid down by an undertaking that is carrying out an economic activity to ensure the alignment with the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises¹⁰⁰ and the UN' Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights¹⁰¹, including the principles and rights set out in the eight fundamental conventions identified in the Declaration of the International Labour Organization on Fundamental Principles and Rights at

average temperature to well below 2 °C and pursuing efforts to limit it to 1,5 °C above pre-industrial levels, as laid down in the Paris Agreement". Also, see Article 10 from the $\bf TR$.

⁹¹Ibid., Article 2 point (6), "Climate change adaptation" means the process of adjustment to actual and expected climate change and its impacts". Also, see **TR**, Article 11.

⁹³ Ibid., Article 2 point (9): "circular economy means an economic system whereby the value of products, materials and other resources in the economy is maintained for as long as possible, enhancing their efficient use in production and consumption, thereby reducing the environmental impact of their use, minimizing waste and the release of hazardous substances at all stages of their life cycle, including through the application of the waste hierarch.". Also, see TR., Article 13.

⁹⁴ For a further analysis according to how a pollution prevention and control is defined and how is taking place see **TR**, Article 14.

⁹⁵Ibid., Article 15.

⁹⁶For nuclear energy in relation to the 'do not significantly harm' criterion, see **Group of Experts on radiation**, protection and waste management (2021), Scientific Committee on Health, Environmental and Emerging Risks (2021) and Joint Research Centre (2021).

⁹⁷TR., Recital (34), Articles 3 and 17. Also, see Platform on Sustainable Finance (2021a), p. 27 et seq.

⁹⁸ On the environmental impact of Green Bonds see **Mazzacurati J., Paris W. and Tsiotras A. (2021),** p. 97 et seq.

⁹⁹Ibid., Article 17(2).

¹⁰⁰See at: https://www.oecd.org/daf/inv/mne/48004323.pdf

¹⁰¹See at: https://www.ohchr.org/documents/publications/guidingprinciplesbusinesshr en.pdf

- Work and the International Bill of Human Rights¹⁰².
- 4. Lastly, that activity complies with the technical screening criteria established by the European Commission ¹⁰³. The technical screening criteria shall specify the minimum requirements for any economic activity. These criteria shall determine under what conditions that economic activity makes a substantial contribution to an environmental objective and does not significantly harm the other objectives. Lastly, these TSC shall ensure that the economic activity makes either a positive impact or reduces negative impact on the respective environmental objective¹⁰⁴.

2.2. The importance of the technical screening criteria

The Taxonomy Regulation is complemented by European Commission's Delegated Acts, which establish technical screening criteria (TSC), namely the actual list of environmentally sustainable activities. It is extremely important to mention that apart from the fact that an economic activity qualifies as contributing substantially to an environmental objective, it should also not cause significant harm to any other environmental objective¹⁰⁵.

On 21 April 2021, European Commission formally adopted a Delegated Act by virtue of Article 10 (3) and Article 11 (3) of the Taxonomy Regulation concerning the "establishing of the technical screening criteria for determining the conditions under which an economic activity qualifies as contributing substantially to climate change mitigation or climate change adaptation and for determining whether that economic activity causes no significant harm to any of the other environmental objectives ¹⁰⁶". This Delegated Act is built upon the recommendations of the Technical Expert Group on the Sustainable Finance (TEG), and mainly TEG "recommendations for technical screening criteria for 70 economic activities that contribute substantially to climate change mitigation and 68

 $^{{\}small ^{102}~See~at:}~~\underline{https://www.ilo.org/global/standards/introduction-to-international-labour-standards/conventions-and-recommendations/lang--en/index.htm}$

¹⁰³Through Delegated Regulations pursuant to Articles 10 (3), 11 (3), 12 (2). 13 (2), 14 (2) and 15(2) of the **TR**.

¹⁰⁴For a detailed analysis of the TR, including its impact on the financial system, see **Gortsos Ch.V.** (2021). ¹⁰⁵ For the "Significant harm to environmental objectives" criterion see Article 17 of the **TR** and **Gortsos Ch.V.** (2021) p. 19 et seq.

¹⁰⁶ See https://www.mccannfitzgerald.com/knowledge/sustainable-finance/eu-taxonomy-regulation-agreed-technical-screening-criteria-published

economic activities that contribute substantially to climate change adaptation "107. This Delegated Regulation lays down the technical screening criteria for climate change mitigation and climate change adaptation.

Moreover, this delegated act establishes technical screening criteria for "transitional economic activities" that have the highest capacity for significant greenhouse gas emissions, where near-zero carbon solutions are not yet viable or where near-zero carbon activities exist, although they are not yet practicable at scale ¹⁰⁸. Also, it establishes technical screening criteria for manufacturing activities and maritime shipping ¹⁰⁹. In relation to the manufacturing activities, it is noted that the minimum of the technical screening criteria shall be determined at a level that will only be achievable by the best performers of each sector, in most cases based on greenhouse gas emissions per unit of output produced ¹¹⁰. While concerning the latter (i.e. the maritime shipping) the technical screening criteria should be applicable until the end of 2025 ¹¹¹.

Additional technical screening criteria for the four following environmental objectives: a) sustainable use and protection of water and marine resources, b) transition to a circular economy, c) pollution prevention and control, d) and protection and restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems ¹¹², will be developed by the Platform on Sustainable Finance¹¹³.

3. The European Green Bond Proposal for a Regulation (EuGBR)

As previously mentioned, on 8 March 2018, the EC launched its Action Plan on Financing Sustainable Growth¹¹⁴. This Action Plan lays down a comprehensive strategy in order to connect finance with sustainability. According to Action 2 of the Action Plan the European Commission pledged to create standards and labels for green financial products¹¹⁵. The

¹⁰⁷C/2021/2800 final, see at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=PI_COM:C(2021)2800
See Recital (13) of this Delegated Regulation at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=PI_COM:C(2021)2800

¹⁰⁹Ibid., Recital (21) et seq.

¹¹⁰Ibid., Recital (20).

¹¹¹Ibid., Recital (34).

¹¹²See EU Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2020b) p. 3 et seq.

¹¹³The **Platform on Sustainable Finance** is a multi-stakeholder platform of experts convened by the European Commission as mandated by Article 15 of the EU Taxonomy Regulation 2020/850.

¹¹⁴See above **Section B under 1(iv).**

¹¹⁵See European Commission (2018).

plan is a response to recommendations from the High-Level Expert Group (HLEG) on Sustainable Finance, which was submitted to the Commission on 31 January 2018.

On 9 December 2019, The European Green Deal pointed out that "it should be introduced standards and labels for sustainable financial products (e.g. green bonds) in order to protect the integrity of and trust in the sustainable financial market, as well as enable easier access for investors seeking those products¹¹⁶. Moreover, in December 2019, the European Commission's Joint Research (JRC) published a draft proposal for the EU Ecolabel criteria for retail financial products¹¹⁷. The JRC proposes that the EU Ecolabel not to be granted to an individual financial product but to the financial service being provided by the manufacturer of the green financial product. Also, the JRC suggests that the green products manufacturers shall use the EU GBS in order to illustrate alignment with the classification system of the underlying components of their financial products (e.g. green bonds included in a bond fund carrying the EU Ecolabel).

On 6 February 2020, the European Securities and Market Authority (ESMA) published its strategy on Sustainable Finance¹¹⁸. ESMA aims to support the transition of the financial system by redirecting private capital to more sustainable investments, encouraging more transparency and long-termism in the economy. In this case, ESMA clarifies "its willingness to accept new supervisory mandates if requested, such as for example in relation to the European Green Bonds"¹¹⁹.

In June 2019, the TEG published its report on EU Green Bond Standard¹²⁰. The report suggests that the EC shall establish a voluntary EU Green Bond Standard in order to strengthen the effectiveness, transparency, comparability and credibility of the green bond market and especially to enhance the market participants to issue and invest in EU Green Bonds¹²¹. It is noted that the proposal relied on the best market practices. This report relies on the interim report that was published on 6 March 2019. The interim report initially

¹¹⁶ See European Commission (2019).

¹¹⁷ See Draft proposal at: https://susproc.jrc.ec.europa.eu/product-bureau/sites/default/files/2020-02/20191220 EU Ecolabel FP Draft Technical Report 2-0.pdf

¹¹⁸See at https://www.esma.europa.eu/press-news/esma-news/esma-sets-out-its-strategy-sustainable-finance
¹¹⁹Ibid., p. 8.

¹²⁰ When the TEG published its report in June 2019, the EU Taxonomy was still in negotiation.

¹²¹See EU Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2019b).

recommends the content of a EUGBS, illustrates its purpose and defines its ambition level. Furthermore, the interim report present TEG's opinion on how the creation of the proposed EU GBS will address the barriers obstructing the green bond market's further growth and will support its role in channeling essential financial flows to green projects¹²².

Based on the proposals of the TEG's report that launched on June 2019¹²³, the TEG published on March 2020 the usability guide for the EU Green Bond Standard. This Guide includes, among other things, TEG's recommendations on the practical application of the EU GBS. Furthermore, this Guide aspires to support potential issuers, investors and verifiers of EUGBS and provide guidance as per the draft of the EU GBS¹²⁴.

Through a public consultation on the renewed sustainable finance strategy, which took place from 6 April to 15 July 2020, and the targeted consultation on the establishment of an EU green bond standard, which took place for an extended period of 16 weeks between 12 June and 2 October 2020, the EC investigate the possibility of a legislative initiative for a European Green Bond Standard.

Based on the outcome of the two abovementioned public consultations, in January 2020 the Commission announced that would establish an EU Green Bond Standard (EUGBS). Following that announcement, the European Council highlighted the importance of developing common, global standards for green finance and invited the Commission to initiate a legislative proposal for a green bond standard by mid-2021.

In accordance with the Council's mandate, on 6 July 2021, the European Commission issued a proposal for Regulation (EU) 2021/0191¹²⁵ of the European Parliament and of the Council "*On European Green Bond*" (EUGB)¹²⁶. This proposal is part of the European Commission's broader agenda on sustainable finance.

3.1. The objectives of the proposal for a regulation and the reason for its adoption

In principle, it is essential to mention that this legislative proposal falls within the area of shared competence in accordance with the Article 4 (2) point (a) of the Treaty of the

¹²⁵See European Commission (2021f).

¹²²See EU Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2019a)

¹²³See EU Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2019b).

¹²⁴Ibid., p. 3.

¹²⁶See at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52021PC0391

Functioning of the European Union (TFEU) and is based on Article 114 TFEU.

The goal of this legislative proposal¹²⁷ is threefold:

- a. Improve the ability of investors to identify and trust high quality green bonds.
- b. Facilitate the issuance of these high-quality green bonds by clarifying definitions of green economic activities and reducing potential reputational risks for issuers in transitional sectors.
- c. Standardize the practice of external review and improve trust in external reviewers by introducing a voluntary registration and supervision regime.

It clearly seems that, EC aims to better exploit the potential of the single market and the Capital Markets Union¹²⁸ to contribute to meeting the Union's climate and environmental objectives in relation to Article 2(1) (c) of the Paris Agreement¹²⁹ on climate change and the European Green Deal¹³⁰.

In addition, the 'EUGB' proposal aspires to address the existing barriers of the green bond market. In principle, as mentioned previously, the current green bond market relies on market-based standards. Since the green bond market builds on private initiative through the creation of proprietary frameworks, it can be costly and difficult for investors to determine the positive environmental impact of bond-based investments and to compare different green bonds in the market. Also, as far as issuers are concerned, the complete lack of common definitions of environmentally sustainable economic activities creates uncertainty about economic activities that are legitimate to be considered "green". Therefore, it is obvious that under these circumstances, the issuers may face reputational risks from "greenwashing" accusations. Another obstacle in the development of the green bond market is that the existing market-based standards are not considered sufficient to ensure transparency and accountability of external evaluators and there is no constant supervision of companies acting as external evaluators. Thus, the investors are confronting

¹²⁷For a brief presentation of the EuGBR, see European Securities and Markets Authority (2021) p. 49.

¹²⁸The Capital Markets Union (CMU) is a plan to create a single market for capital. The aim is to get money-investments and savings- flowing across the EU so that it can benefit consumers, investors and companies, regardless of where they are located. Regarding the Capital Markets Union see **Gortsos Ch.V. (2020)**, p. 144 et seq.

¹²⁹See above **Section B under 1(ii).**

¹³⁰See above Section B under 1(vi).

further difficulties in identifying, trusting and comparing environmentally sustainable bonds¹³¹.

3.2. The content of the European Green Bond proposal

This proposal for a Regulation¹³² lays down a set of rules that issuers of green bonds need to strictly follow in order to call a bond a "European Green Bond" or "EuGB", namely for "bonds that pursue environmentally sustainable objectives within the meaning of Regulation 2020/852 (Taxonomy Regulation)"¹³³. It is based on the existing market best practices and sets out additional requirements based on relevant legislation¹³⁴.

As briefly mentioned before, this legislative initiative will contribute to the Capital Markets Union while at the same time will minimize the disruption to existing green bond markets and will reduce the risk of greenwashing. The "European Green Bond" will be available for every party that aspires to meet the requirements of this proposal, namely within or outside the EU.

This legislative initiative is based on the EU Taxonomy Regulation, which defines the classification of economic activities as environmentally sustainable and, inter alia, as one of the key criteria for full compliance with minimum social safeguards ¹³⁵. This legal framework could be exploited as a benchmark for classifying an economic activity and hence the related assets or projects as "green". According to the Article 4 of the Taxonomy Regulation ¹³⁶, "the Union shall apply the criteria [...] to determine whether an economic activity qualifies as environmentally sustainable for the purposes of any measure setting out requirements for financial participants or issuers in respect of corporate bonds...". Therefore, the Commission suggested that the Taxonomy Regulation and its Delegated Acts should determine what counts as "green" for the purposes of European Green Bonds.

¹³¹See the **Explanatory memorandum** of the EC's proposal for a regulation on European Green Bonds at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52021PC0391.

¹³²For a concise overview of the EU Green Bond Standard Proposal, see **Cuyper J. and Janssen Z. (2021).**¹³³See the **Explanatory memorandum** of the EC's proposal for a regulation on European Green Bonds at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52021PC0391.

¹³⁴For a brief analysis of the draft regulation, see **International Capital Markets Association (2021e)**, p. 2 et seg.

¹³⁵See above **Section B under 3.**

¹³⁶TR Article 4.

This proposal aims to be a voluntary standard for green bond issuance. As per its voluntary character, it is perceivable that the issuers may choose to align with European Green Bond (EuGB) or they may follow other market-defined practices. Also, it constitutes a broad framework for all green bond issuers, both the public and private sector, financial and non-financial institutions, both inside and outside the Union¹³⁷.

In view of the above-mentioned, the European Green Bond (EuGB), as structured in the proposal for a regulation, varies from the market-defined standards. In principle, the allocations raised by the EuGB should be distributed completely and solely to EU Taxonomy-aligned projects, specifically to environmentally sustainable economic activities as per the Taxonomy Regulation. Additionally, issuers should strictly follow stringent disclosure requirements in order to guarantee full transparency on the allocation of proceeds and the environmental impact of the EuGB. The fact that the disclosure requirements comply with the requirements of the EuGB will be confirmed by external reviewers¹³⁸. In line with the external reviewers, they will need to be registered with and supervised by the ESMA¹³⁹. This requirement aims to ensure the high quality of their services and the reliability of their external reviews in order to protect investors and boost market integrity¹⁴⁰.

3.2.1. The fundamental features of the European Commission's proposal

Green bonds constitute, an essential financial instrument for financing investments related to low-carbon technologies, energy efficiency and resource efficiency as well as sustainable transport and research infrastructure ¹⁴¹. The proceeds raised of the EuGB issuance should be exclusively and fully allocated to finance economic activities that have a constant positive impact on the environment ¹⁴². These economic activities shall meet the taxonomy requirements ¹⁴³, or they will meet the taxonomy requirement within a specified

¹³⁷According to the Explanatory Memorandum of the proposal, this framework is also intended to be usable for issuers of covered bonds as well as securitizations, the securities of which are issued by a special purpose vehicle (SPV).

¹³⁸See below **Section B under 3.2.1.**

¹³⁹See below **Section B under 3.2.3.**

¹⁴⁰Maragopoulos N. (2021) p. 16.

¹⁴¹**EuGBR**, Recital (3).

¹⁴²Ibid., Recital (9).

¹⁴³ Namely the taxonomy requirements set out in Article 3 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (TR).

period as established in a taxonomy-alignment plan. This period shall not exceed 5 years from green bond issuance, unless a longer period of up to ten years is justified by the specific features of the economic activity as substantiated in the taxonomy-alignment plan¹⁴⁴. This plan needs to describe the actions and expenditures that are indispensable for an economic activity to meet the taxonomy requirements within the specified period¹⁴⁵.

Added to the above, it is noted that the proceeds of the EuGB issuance may be used to finance such economic activities both directly through the financing of assets and expenditures concerning to environmentally sustainable activities and indirectly though financial assets financing environmentally sustainable activities. Regarding Article 4 of the EuGB proposal, the proceeds may be allocated, without deducting costs, to the following:

- a. Fixed assets, including those of households, that are not financial assets;
- b. Capital expenditures (Capex)¹⁴⁶, including those of households.
- c. Operating expenditures (Opex)¹⁴⁷ that were incurred more recently than three years prior to the issuance of the European Green Bond.
- d. Financial assets, namely 1) debt and/or 2) equity¹⁴⁸.
- e. A combination of the abovementioned categories ¹⁴⁹.

Regardless of European Corporate Green Bonds¹⁵⁰, issuers that are sovereigns can use the proceeds of European green bonds, not only for the abovementioned categories, but also to indirectly finance economic activities that are aligned with the taxonomy requirements through the following:

¹⁴⁴EuGBR, Article 6.

¹⁴⁵Ibid., Article 6.

¹⁴⁶Ibid., according to article 4 (1) second paragraph "capital expenditures shall mean either additions to fixed tangible and fixed intangible assets during the financial year considered before depreciation, amortization and any re-measurements, including the additions resulting from revaluations and impairments for the financial year concerned, and excluding fair value or any additions to fixed tangible and fixed intangible assets resulting from business combinations.".

¹⁴⁷Ibid., article 4 (1) last paragraph refers that "operating expenditures shall mean direct non-capitalized costs which relate to research and development, education and training, building renovation measures, short-term lease, maintenance and repair, and any other direct expenditures relating to the day-to-day servicing of fixed tangible or fixed intangible assets of property, plant and equipment that are necessary to ensure the continued and effective functioning of such assets.".

¹⁴⁸Ibid., Articles 4-5.

¹⁴⁹A EuGB may be refinanced by issuing a new EuGB but there is no specific provision on how or when to determine the Taxonomy-alignment of the refinancing EuGB, see **International Capital Markets Association (2021c),** p. 3.

¹⁵⁰ For a detailed analysis of corporate green bonds, see Flammer (2021) p. 5 et seq., and Tang Zhang (2018).

- a. Produced non-financial assets¹⁵¹
- b. Non-Produced non-financial assets¹⁵²
- c. Tax credits¹⁵³
- d. Subsidies, that were transferred more recently than three (3) years prior to the issuance of the EuGB¹⁵⁴
- e. Capital expenditures¹⁵⁵

In these cases, sovereigns need to ensure that economic activities funded by such programs comply with the terms and conditions of those programs. Moreover, the fixed assets, the CapEx and the Opex and financial assets funded by the proceeds of the EuGBs should comply with the technical screening criteria laid down by the Taxonomy Regulation. Since the technical screening criteria are constantly being examined and amended as a result of technological progress in the area of environmental sustainability, the issuers shall implement the technical screening criteria applicable at the moment of the issuance of the EuGB, when allocating the proceeds of these bonds to eligible fixed assets or expenditures, until the maturity of the bond¹⁵⁶. While, when allocating bond proceeds to the debt, issuers shall apply the technical screening criteria applicable at the moment the debt was created 157. It is worth mentioned, that the constant the technical screening criteria due to the technological progress in that area, could negatively affect the price of the EuGBs that would have already been issued. Nevertheless, this Proposal Regulation targets to moderate this risk by granting a sensible period to the issuer (5 years), in order to allocate the proceeds by complying with the amended technical screening criteria¹⁵⁸.

Furthermore, the proposed Regulation aims to promote transparency and market integrity. To achieve its purposes, investors should be provided with all necessary information in order to be able to assess the environmental impact of European green bonds, and to compare such bonds with each other 159. For this reason, the proposed regulation on

¹⁵¹Ibid., see Article 4 (2) point (a) and Regulation (EU) No 549/2013 point 7.22 of Annex A thereof.

¹⁵²Ibid., see Article 4 (2) point (b) and Regulation (EU) No 549/2013 point 7.24 of Annex A thereof.

¹⁵³Ibid., see Article 4 (2) point (c) and Regulation (EU) No 549/2013 point 20.167 of Annex A thereof.

¹⁵⁴Ibid., see Article 4 (2) point (d) and Regulation (EU) No 549/2013 point 4.30 of Annex A thereof.

¹⁵⁵Ibid., see Article 4 (2) point (e) and Regulation (EU) No 549/2013 point 20.104 of Annex A thereof.

¹⁵⁶Ibid., Recital (11).

¹⁵⁷Ibid., Article 7 (2).

¹⁵⁸Ibid., Recital (11).

¹⁵⁹**EuGBR**, Recital (13).

European green bonds, intends to lay down specific and standardized disclosure requirements for issuers in order to investors be informed about how issuers plan to allocate the bond's proceeds to eligible fixed assets, expenditures and financial assets and how those proceeds have truly been allocated. This will also facilitate the comparability of green bonds.

More specifically, issuers need to publish the following:

- a. Pre-issuance European Green Bond Factsheets
- b. Post-issuance annual review of allocation reports
- c. At least one report on the environmental impact of the use of the green bond build on standardized templates included in the Annexes of the proposed Regulation. In the event of more than one EuGB, the issuer may publish a single report for each of the abovementioned types of reports¹⁶⁰.

In the case of the pre-issuance EuGB factsheet and post-issuance allocation report external reviewers should assess whether the issuer ensure compliance with the EuGB Regulation. There are two different types of external reviews. On the one hand, there is a pre-issuance external review, during which an assessment taking place in order to be ensured the alignment of the Bond with the Proposed Regulation. On the other hand, there is a post-issuance external review, during which an assessment taking place in order to be ensured that the proceeds have been allocated to economic activities aligned with the Taxonomy Regulation.

Moreover, issuers should publish and certainly maintain to their websites until the maturity of the bond details about the issued bonds in order to ensure the reliability of information and investor confidence. Also, the pre-issuance reviews as well as any post-issuance reviews should also being published on their websites¹⁶¹. After all, this is a common requirement for the issuer, because that is what they do in the relevant prospectus by virtue of Prospectus Regulation¹⁶². Regardless of the above, external reviewers also need to

¹⁶⁰Ibid., Articles 8 (2), 9 (2) and 10 (2).

¹⁶¹ Ibid., Recital (20).

On the **Prospectus Regulation** EU 2017/1129 see: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A02017R1129-20211110

publish their reports on their own website until the maturity of the relevant EuGBs¹⁶³.

The EuGBR is quite flexible on sovereigns in accordance with disclosure requirements and the obligation to obtain pre-issuance and post-issuance external reviews from external reviewers. In this context, sovereigns may use, instead of ESMA's supervised external reviewers¹⁶⁴, a state auditor or any other public body that is mandated by the sovereign to assess compliance with this Proposed Regulation¹⁶⁵. This State auditor or any other public entity will not be subject to ESMA's supervision, which may impede the credibility of EuGBs¹⁶⁶.

In comparison with the private sector, sovereign issuers are not mandated to showcase the alignment with the Taxonomy Regulation for specific public expenditures programs, for instance tax expenditures or/and subsidies programs. Hence, the external reviewers should not be obliged to evaluate the taxonomy-alignment of each, and every economic activity funded by the afore-mentioned programs, but they should assess the alignment of the terms and conditions of the funding programs in relation to the Taxonomy Regulation¹⁶⁷.

Prior to the publication of the EuGB, a factsheet drawn up in accordance with a standardized template ¹⁶⁸ and published on the issuer's website alongside with a prior review by an external reviewer. The said Factsheet may be relevant to one or numerous EuGB issuances. The Factsheet shall contain general information, such as date of the publication of the EuGB factsheet, the legal name of the issuer and contact details of the external reviewer. Also, under the factsheet issuers should provide statement that voluntarily complies with the requirements of this Regulation, their environmental strategy and rationale on how the bonds align with the environmental strategy of the issuer and the objectives of the Article 9 of the TR¹⁶⁹. The biggest part of this factsheet should cover the envisaged allocation of the EuGB's proceeds. In particular, the factsheet should provide

¹⁶³**EuGBR,** Articles 13 (1) and 30 (1) - (2).

¹⁶⁴See below in **Section B, under 3.2.6.**

¹⁶⁵EuGBR, Article 12.

¹⁶⁶ See Lehmann A. (2021).

¹⁶⁷**EuGBR**, Recital (16).

¹⁶⁸Ibid., Article 8 and Annex I thereof.

¹⁶⁹Namely, the climate change mitigation, climate change adaption, the sustainable use and protection of the water and marine resources, the transition to a circular economy, the pollution prevention and control and the protection and restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems.

detailed information on the estimated time until full allocation of proceeds, the process for selecting green projects, including a description of the technical screening criteria considered and an assessment of the anticipated negative or positive environmentally impact ¹⁷⁰. Since special reasons, such as confidentiality agreements, competitive considerations or a major number of underlying qualifying projects limiting the amount of available detail, issuers should provide detail information on the intended qualifying green projects at project-level. However, if this information is excluded due to the abovementioned special reasons, then it is sufficient the information to be provided at least at aggregate level with consequential justification of why project-level information is not provided. Where a prospectus is to be published pursuant to Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, that prospectus should explicitly declare that the EuGB is issued under the EuGB Regulation¹⁷¹and shall include therein the information contained in the European green bond factsheet¹⁷².

As long as the issuer has completed the Factsheet, the external reviewer will accomplish a pre-issuance assessment in order to validate that the provided information is reliable, and the issuer meets all the requirements of the EuGB Regulation. This external review is built upon a standardize template ¹⁷³ included in this Proposal Regulation and shall include various information. Specifically, the external reviewer shall express a positive or a negative opinion where the assessed green bond meets the requirements of the EuGB Regulation and the suitability to use the EuGB designation. Also, the independent external reviewer should give further information about the sources build upon to prepare the pre-issuance review, including links to measurement data and the applicable methodology, as well as justification of the assumptions of the methodologies and taxonomy requirements used ¹⁷⁴.

The allocation report, pursuant to the article 9 of the proposed Regulation, follows the issuance of the green bond. On an annual basis and until the full allocation of the European Green Bond's proceeds, issuers should draw upon a report presenting how they are

_

¹⁷⁰Ibid., Annex I.

¹⁷¹Ibid., Article 12.

¹⁷²Ibid., Article 8(1), point (a).

¹⁷³Ibid., Annex IV.

¹⁷⁴Ibid., Annex IV.

allocating the proceeds of the EuGB¹⁷⁵. The allocation report, as also the EuGB Factsheet, is based on a standardized template included in the proposal regulation¹⁷⁶ and their content is quite similar. Firstly, issuers should necessarily illustrate the type and sectors of projects, the amount and the percentage of proceeds allocated at a project-level, unless specific conditions¹⁷⁷ require the disclosure of information at aggregated level. Moreover, the allocation report shall include the progress update in the implementation of a taxonomy alignment plan for assets falling under such a plan and statement of the issuer's compliance with the minimum social safeguards laid down in Article 3(c) of the Taxonomy Regulation¹⁷⁸. On financial entities, acting as issuers, that allocate proceeds from a portfolio of several EuGBs to a portfolio of financial assets¹⁷⁹, in that case the allocation report shall include both an overview of the outstanding EuGBs, presenting their individual and combined value, and furthermore an overview of the eligible financial assets, presenting their value, their environmental objectives, their types, their sector and their countries.

Following the allocation of proceeds, the issuer is obliged to obtain a post-issuance review of this allocation report by an external reviewer. The allocation report shall be submitted for an assessment before an external reviewer within 30 days following the end of the year to which the allocation report indicates. While the post-issuance allocation report should be published within 90 days following the receipt of the allocation report from the external reviewer. The said review should indicate a detailed assessment of whether the issuer has allocated the EuGB's proceeds according both the proposed Regulation and the intended use laid down in the EuGB factsheet.

Finally, pursuant to the EuGB Regulation in the case of financial undertakings that allocate the proceeds from a portfolio of EuGBs to a portfolio of environmentally sustainable economic activities, a review of each allocation report is compulsory¹⁸⁰

_

¹⁷⁵Such kind of allocation report is laid down under the GPB on a voluntary basis.

¹⁷⁶**EuGBR**, Annex II.

¹⁷⁷On the specific condition see annex II included in the EuGBR.

¹⁷⁸Ibid., Annex II.

¹⁷⁹Ibid., Article 6.

¹⁸⁰Ibid., Annex IV and Article 9.

In comparison with other market-defined practices, as mentioned previously¹⁸¹, where impact reporting is not compulsory, although shall be deemed as a best practice, as it enhances market accountability"¹⁸², impact reporting under the proposed Regulation is mandatory. In particular, the EuGB Regulation establishes an additional disclosure requirement for issuers, which concerns to the publication of report on the environmental impact of the EuGB.

Finally, it is noted that issuers shall draw up an impact report at least once until the maturity of the green bond, exposing the environmental impact of the use of proceeds based on a standardized template included in the proposal Regulation. The impact report should provide, in addition to the sectors covered by the pre-issuance factsheet and the post-issuance allocation report, detailed information of the positive and negative environmental impact in aggregated form, as well as the methodologies and the assumptions used in the evaluation of the impact. Where possible, the metrics used in the assessment of the impact, shall be included at a project-level, otherwise a justification of the absence of that information 183. It is obvious that the impact report intends to inform the investors on each project's negative and adverse environmental impact and the relevant metrics 184. In comparison with the pre-issuance EuGB factsheet and the post-issuance allocation report, the impact report is not required to be assessed by an external reviewer.

3.2.2. Powers of competent authorities in relation with the disclosure requirements

The EuGB Regulation provides certain supervisory and investigatory powers on national competent authorities in order to ensure issuers' compliance with the abovementioned disclosure requirements.

As per the supervisory powers, national competent authorities may require issuers to draw up and make public pre-issuance and post-issuance reports and to include therein the information included in the respective Annexes of the EuGB Regulation. In the case of the competent authority have reasonable doubts that the disclosure requirements have been

¹⁸¹On that see above **Section A under 3.**

¹⁸²See Fatica S., Panzica R. and Rancan M., (2019), Fatica S. (2020) and European Commission (2020b).

¹⁸³**EuGBR**, see Annex III.

¹⁸⁴Ibid., Article 10.

violated, the competent NCA shall publish this information¹⁸⁵ and additional the competent NCA may suspend the offer of EuGBs for a maximum of 10 contiguous working days¹⁸⁶ and/or forbid or suspend advertisements according to this issuance¹⁸⁷.

As regards the investigatory powers, firstly, the NCAs may require auditors and senior management of the issuer to provide information and documents¹⁸⁸, and secondly, they may also carry out on-site inspections and/or investigations at the issuer's premises in order to prove the violation of this Regulation¹⁸⁹. In both cases, NCA's may exercise their powers either directly or in cooperation with other competent authorities ¹⁹⁰, or under their responsibility by delegation to such authorities or lastly by application to the competent judicial authorities¹⁹¹.

Furthermore, this proposed Regulation pursuant to Article 41 and without prejudice the right of the Member States to impose criminal penalties, Member States shall provide competent authorities, in accordance with their national law, the power to impose administrative sanctions and other effective, proportionate and dissuasive administrative measures¹⁹², whether the issuer violates the disclosure requirements set out in the EuGB Regulation or whether an issuer fails to cooperate or comply in an investigation or an inspection¹⁹³.

It is noted that the National Competent Authorities (NCA's) have the power to impose both pecuniary and non-pecuniary administrative sanctions to legal and natural persons responsible for the respective infringements ¹⁹⁴. When imposing these sanctions, the NCAs

¹⁸⁵Ibid., Article 37 (1) point (g).

¹⁸⁶Ibid., Article 37 (1) point (e).

¹⁸⁷Ibid., Article 37 (1) point (f).

¹⁸⁸Ibid., Article 37 (1) point (d).

¹⁸⁹Ibid., Article 37 (1) point (h).

¹⁹⁰Ibid., Article 38.

¹⁹¹Ibid., Article 37 (2).

¹⁹²Ibid., Article 41.

¹⁹³Ibid., Article 41 (1) point (a)-(b).

¹⁵¹Ibid., Article 41 explicitly mention that: "(a) a public statement indicating the natural person or the legal entity responsible and the nature of the infringement in accordance with Article 37(1), point (g); (b)an order requiring the natural person or legal entity responsible to cease the conduct constituting the infringement; (c)maximum administrative pecuniary sanctions of at least twice the amount of the profits gained or losses avoided because of the infringement where those can be determined; (d)in the case of a legal person, maximum administrative pecuniary sanctions of at least EUR [500 000], or, in the Member States whose currency is not the euro, the corresponding value in the national currency on [please add entry into force], or 0.5 % of the total annual turnover of that legal person according to the last available financial statements

shall consider the following criteria in order to determine the type and the level of the administrative sanction or measures. In particular, a) the gravity and the duration of the infringement, b) the degree of responsibility of the person responsible, c) the financial strength of the person responsible for the infringement d) the impact of the infringement on retail investors' interests, e) the importance of the profits gained, losses avoided by the person responsible for the infringement or the losses for third parties derived from the infringement, f) the level of cooperation of the person responsible for the infringement with the competent authority, without prejudice to the need to ensure disgorgement of profits gained or losses avoided by that person g)previous infringements by the person responsible for the infringement and h) measures taken after the infringement by the person responsible for the infringement to prevent its repetition¹⁹⁵.

Lastly, if the Member States decide to impose criminal sanctions in their national law in relation with the infringement of this Regulation, they might decide not to lay down rules for administrative sanctions for these infringements as referred to in this proposed Regulation¹⁹⁶.

3.2.3. Registration and supervision of external reviewers

First and foremost, it is quite essential to mention, that the current market-defined status of green bond issuance does not provide a specific framework for the supervision of external reviewers. The consequence is that issuers and investors are not safeguarded in relation to the sustainability of the economic activity. However, the EuGB Regulation aspires to create an efficient framework for the supervision of external reviewers.

In principle, the EuGB Regulation contains detailed provisions setting out specific requirements concerning the registration process and the supervision of external reviewers and secondly the assignment to the ESMA the power of the authorization process of external reviewers and to ensure a fully harmonized supervision across all Member States¹⁹⁷, which is based on the TEG's proposal for a "centralized regime for authorization"

approved by the management body. (e) in the case of a natural person, maximum administrative pecuniary sanctions of at least EUR [50 000], or, in the Member States whose currency is not the euro, the corresponding value in the national currency on [date of entry into force of this Regulation]."

¹⁹⁵Ibid., Article 42.

¹⁹⁶Ibid., Article 41 (1).

¹⁹⁷See EU Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2019b), p. 36 et seq.

and supervision by ESMA¹⁹⁸". The TEG also assessed three more options, namely a) "a decentralized regime, involving national competent bodies (national regulators, national ecolabelling authorities) in EU Member States on a harmonized basis, possibly coordinated by ESMA in cooperation with other EU institutions", b) "a status quo and/or de-facto harmonization with ISO 14030" and c) "a Market-based regime with European Commission participation, in the form of an interim scheme convened by a market-based initiative in coordination with the future EU Platform on Sustainable Finance¹⁹⁹", but all the above options were rejected in order to prevent a contrasted application of the EU rules in the Union giving rise to "market distortion, uneven practices and regulatory arbitrage"²⁰⁰. This centralized regime for registration and supervision by the ESMA²⁰¹ will multiply benefit the market, because it would avoid market fragmentation establishing a harmonized framework for external reviewers, it would facilitate cross-border reviewers and issuers and lastly it would reduce compliance costs for supervised entities²⁰².

As per the EuGB Regulation, the external reviewers, before taking up their activities, should register with ESMA, since they met specific conditions²⁰³.External reviewers aspire to assess European green Bonds need to submit an application before the ESMA included specific documentation. Candidate external reviewers should provide the ESMA with information about a) personal data of the applicant, such as name, address, website, b) the name and contact details of a contact person, c) the legal status of the applicant, d) the ownership structure of the applicant, e) the identity of the members of the senior management of the applicant and their level of qualification, experience and training, f) the number of analysts, employees and other persons directly involved in the assessment activities, their level of experience and training working of the applicant and their level of

¹⁹⁸Ibid., p. 39.

¹⁹⁹Ibid., p. 39.

²⁰⁰See EU Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2019b) p. 74. Moreover, for a deepen analysis, see Maragopoulos N. (2021), p. 21 et seq.

²⁰¹Accreditation of CRAs, which play a crucial role in bond markets and some of which are already active in the external review market, are already authorized and supervised by ESMA, see **EU Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2019b)** p. 74. The ESMA has also supervisory powers as concerns trade repositories.

²⁰²Ibid., p. 74.

²⁰³**EuGBR**, article 14 (1)-(2). Nevertheless, State auditors and other public entities mandated by sovereign issuer to assess compliance with this Regulation shall not be subject to the same obligations in relation the registration and supervision as the external reviewers, see also **EuGBR** Article 14 (3).

experience and training, g) a description of the procedures and methodologies applicable by the candidate to issue pre-issuance and post-issuance reviews²⁰⁴, h) the policies or procedures applicable by the candidate to identify, manage and disclose any conflicts of interests²⁰⁵, i) documents in relation to any existing or planned outsourcing arrangements for activities of the external reviewer covered by this proposed regulation, including information on entities assuming outsourcing functions, where applicable, and j) information about other activities carried out by the applicant²⁰⁶.

The ESMA may approve the application of an external reviewer only if the following conditions are cumulatively met. First and foremost, the senior management needs to meet certain criteria concerning to reputation, skills, profession qualifications and experience²⁰⁷. Secondly, the number of analysts and employees and the level of their experience and training are sufficient to perform the required tasks²⁰⁸ and thirdly, the internal arrangements are effective and appropriate to ensure compliance with the requirements set out in this proposed Regulation²⁰⁹.

Lastly, the ESMA may accept or may refuse²¹⁰ the registration of the applicant in case of submission of false statements during the registration process or non-compliance with the transparency rules²¹¹.

3.2.4. Organizational requirements, processes and documents concerning governance

Added to the above, once the ESMA deems, that the external reviewer fulfils the necessary requirements on an ongoing basis, the ESMA accepts the application and proceeds to its entry in the register²¹². The registered external reviewer may carry out its assessment activities in the Union. The proposed Regulation sets out organizational requirements and internal policies aspiring to boost investor protection and market transparency. Consequently, it is mandatory external reviewers to utilize proper systems, resources and

²⁰⁴See above in **Section B under 3.2.1.**

²⁰⁵**EuGBR,** Article 27.

²⁰⁶Ibid., Article 15 (1).

²⁰⁷Ibid., Article 15 (2) point (a).

²⁰⁸Ibid., Article 15 (2) point (b).

²⁰⁹Ibid., Article 15 (2) point (c).

²¹⁰Ibid., Article 15(3).

²¹¹Ibid., Article 15 (3) and 51 (2).

²¹²Ibid., Article 15 et seq.

procedures²¹³, which should monitor and evaluate for their adequacy and effectiveness and where required to take appropriate measures to address any deficiencies²¹⁴.

Firstly, external reviewers are required to comply with certain corporate governance requirements to guarantee that their conducted pre-issuance and post-issuance reviews are independent, objective and of good quality ²¹⁵. In this context, the EuGB Regulation introduces obligations for the senior management ²¹⁶, the analysts and employees of external reviewers and other persons directly involved in the assessment activities of external reviewers²¹⁷. As per the senior management of external reviewers, it is necessary to be sufficiently expert in financial services and environmental matters²¹⁸. Furthermore, senior management should safeguard a sound and prudent management, the independence of the assessment activities, conflicts of interest are appropriately identified, managed and disclosed including the compliance with the requirements laid down in this Regulation²¹⁹. Likewise, analysts and employees conducting the external reviews need to have the relevant knowledge and experience in order to effectively perform their duties²²⁰.

Furthermore, as previously mentioned, external reviewers should take any measures to identify, manage and disclose any conflict of interest related to analysts, employees or any other person directly involved in the assessment activities, as well as persons approving pre-issuance or post-issuance reviews²²¹. Moreover, external reviewers need to disclose any conflict of interest, keep records²²² of potential threats to their independence, as well as measures seeking to mitigate these threats²²³. Fees charged by external reviewers should not be related on the results of the assessment activities²²⁴, and in addition, analysts or other employees directly involved in the assessments are should not initiate or involve in

_

²¹³Ibid., Article 18 (1).

²¹⁴Ibid., Article 18 (2).

²¹⁵Ibid., Recital (23).

²¹⁶Ibid., Article 19.

²¹⁷Ibid., Article 20.

²¹⁸Ibid., Article 23.

²¹⁹Ibid., Article 19 (1) points (a)-(d). It is noted that the ESMA is required to specify though Regulatory Technical Standards the criteria pertaining to the assessment of the sound and prudent management of the external reviewer according to article 19(2) of the **EuGBR**.

²²⁰EuGBR, Article 23.

²²¹Ibid., Article 27 (1).

²²²Ibid., Article 26.

²²³Ibid., Recital (24).

²²⁴Ibid., Article 27 (2).

negotiations concerning fees or payments with any assessed entity or any related third party²²⁵. Lastly, external reviewers providing services other than these assessments shall ensure that those services do not create any conflict of interest with their assessments regarding European Green Bonds²²⁶.

Moreover, external reviewers should establish and maintain a permanent and effective compliance function ensuring to accomplish its responsibilities appropriately and independently, as well as having the necessary resources, expertise and access to all relevant information²²⁷. It is noteworthy that the compliance function should not monitor or assess its own activities and it should be compensated according to the business performance of the external reviewer²²⁸. The outcome of the compliance function should be available to either a supervisory authority or an administrative organ of the external reviewer²²⁹.

Also, external reviewers should introduce and implement internal due diligence policies and procedures safeguarding that their business interests do not affect the independence or accuracy of the assessment activities²³⁰. Additionally, external reviewers should adopt sound administrative and accounting procedures, internal control mechanisms as well as effective control and safeguards arrangements for information processing systems. It is noted that reviews shall rely on an in-depth analysis of the available information, which needs to be of sufficient quality and from reliable sources²³¹. Eventually, external reviewers shall make public to users of their reviews the methodologies and key assumptions they use in their assessment activities in adequate detail, while taking account of the protection of personal data and intellectual property²³².

Lastly, external reviewers may outsource their assessment activities to third party service providers having the respective ability and capacity to perform those assessments credibly

²²⁵Ibid., Article 20 (2).

²²⁶External reviewers shall disclose in their pre-issuance and post-issuance reviews any other services provided for the assessed entity or any related third party in relation to Article 28 of the **EuGBR**.

²²⁷**EuGBR**, Article 21 (2) points (a) - (b).

²²⁸Ibid., Article 21 (2) points (c)-(d).

²²⁹Ibid., Article 22 (3) and recital (23).

²³⁰Ibid., Article 22 (1).

²³¹Ibid., Article 23 (2) and (3), the ESMA needs to develop RTS to specify the criteria for the assessment of whether the information used is of sufficient quality and the information sources are reliable.

²³²Ibid., Recital (22).

and professionally²³³. It should be ensured that such outsourcing does not substantially compromise the quality of the internal audit of the external reviewers and the ability of the ESMA to supervise the compliance of those external reviewers pursuant this Regulation. External reviewers remain liable for any outsourced activity, and they should establish organizational measures in order to ensure that they assess whether third party service providers are conducting assessment activities effectively and pursuant to the implemented regulatory requirements, and the European and national laws²³⁴. External reviewers should also be able to monitor regularly outsourced assessment activities, identify any potential risk associated with these activities and subsequently address any identified failure²³⁵.

3.2.5. Provision of services by third-country external reviewers

The proposed Regulation sets out detailed provisions about the services provided by third-country external reviewers. Initially, an external reviewer, who aspires to provide its services pursuant to the EuGB Regulation, shall be registered in the register of third-country external reviewers kept by ESMA²³⁶. The ESMA shall register the third-country external reviewer only, if certain conditions laid down in the Regulation are met.

The European Commission should adopt a decision for a third country stating that both legal and supervisory arrangements are equivalent to those applicable in the Union and introduce cooperation arrangements with the respective competent authority of that country²³⁷. In that case, the external reviewer is being able to apply for registration before the ESMA and provide its services without any additional requirements²³⁸.

Until the equivalence decision is adopted, a third-country external reviewer may provide its services in relation with this Regulation, since the ESMA recognizes this external reviewer. In order to be recognized, the external reviewer needs to apply for prior recognition before the ESMA, included all the necessary information indicating compliance with the requirements laid down in the EuGB Regulation, namely the

²³³Ibid., Article 25 (1).

²³⁴Ibid., Article 25 (6) point (a).

²³⁵Ibid., Article 25 (6) point (c).

²³⁶Ibid., Article 59.

²³⁷Ibid., Article 31 (1) and article 59.

²³⁸Ibid., Article 31 (3).

requirements, that are also applied to the external reviewers located in the Union²³⁹. It is noted that the external reviewer located in a third country seeking to obtain prior recognition shall appoint a legal representative located in the Union²⁴⁰.

Finally, external reviewers located in the Union may wish services provided by an external reviewer in a third country to be endorsed. To this end, external reviewers should submit an application to the ESMA on condition that the following conditions are cumulatively met:

- a. The endorsing external reviewer has confirmed and notably is able to constantly prove to the ESMA that the provision of services according to this Regulation by the endorsed third-country external reviewer meets the requirements on a compulsory and constant basis, which are at least as strict as the requirements of the EuGB Regulation²⁴¹.
- b. The endorsing external reviewer is expert to monitor efficiently the activity of the provision services in relation to this Regulation by that third-country external reviewer and to manage the associated skills²⁴².
- c. The third-country external reviewer is used either for the specificities of the underlying markets or investments, either for the proximity of the endorsed reviewer to third country markets, issuer or investors, or for his expertise in providing the services of the external review in specific markets or in specific investments²⁴³.

In conclusion, it is extremely essential that the external reviewer located in the Union persists completely liable for the endorsed services provided by the external reviewer located to a third country and for the compliance with the requirements set out in the proposed Regulation²⁴⁴.

²⁴⁰Ibid., Article 34 (3) points (a)-(c).

²³⁹Ibid., Article 34 (4).

²⁴¹Ibid., Article 35 (1) point (a).

²⁴²Ibid., Article 35 (1) point (b).

²⁴³Ibid., Article 35 (1) point (c).

²⁴⁴Ibid., Article 35 (5).

3.2.6. Supervisory and investigatory powers conferred upon the ESMA

The proposed Regulation assigns to the ESMA specific supervisory and investigatory powers in relation to the external reviewers. In order for the ESMA to carry out effectively its conferred tasks pursuant this proposed Regulation, the ESMA may require the submission of necessary information from all persons related or connected to external reviewers, including persons, who effectively conducting the business of the external reviewers, members of the supervisory, management and administrative body or members of the senior management of the external reviewers, persons who are directly involved in assessment activities of the external reviewers, legal representatives and employees of entities to which an external reviewer has outsourced certain functions, and lastly including any person that acts or pretends to be an external reviewer without being registered as such²⁴⁵.

As per the investigatory powers, the ESMA shall be empowered by virtue of Article 48 to investigate any of the abovementioned persons requiring to a) examine records, data, and procedures and receive certified copies of these, b) request written or oral explanations on records, data, procedures and d) to request records of telephone calls and data transmission²⁴⁶. In addition, the ESMA is assigned to conduct on-site inspections²⁴⁷.

In the context of supervisory tasks based on Article 51 of the EuGB Regulation and in case the ESMA figures out that a person has committed any of the following infringements that set out in Article 52(2):

- a. Non-compliance with the organizational and governance requirements of the EuGB Regulation,
- b. The submission of false statements in the application of registration as an external reviewer before the ESMA or the use of any other irregular means to obtain such registration,
- c. Failure to provide the requested information or the provision of incorrect or misleading information in response to a request for information from the ESMA.

²⁴⁵Ibid., Article 47 (1).

²⁴⁶Ibid., Article 48 (1).

²⁴⁷Ibid., Article 49.

- d. Non-compliance with an investigation or on-site inspection performed by the ESMA,
- e. Taking up the activity of external reviewers or pretending to be an external reviewer without having been registered as such²⁴⁸,

the ESMA may decide to impose any of the broad listed supervisory actions in Article 51 of the EuGBR²⁴⁹. In particular, the ESMA may adopt any of the following measures:

- a. Withdraw the registration of an external reviewer.
- b. Withdraw the recognition of an external reviewer located in a third country²⁵⁰.
- c. Prohibit in a temporary basis the external reviewer from pursuing the assessment activities until the end of the infringement.
- d. Adopt a decision requiring the end of the infringement.
- e. Imposing fines and periodic penalty payments²⁵¹
- f. Issue public notices.

In relation with the breaches mentioned above, the ESMA may impose a fine starting from €20,000 to €200,000. In the case of any person has directly or indirectly benefited financially from the breach, the amount of the fine shall be at least equal to that financial

_

²⁴⁸Ibid., Article 52.

²⁴⁹Ibid., Article 51 (3): "When taking the decisions referred to in paragraph 1, ESMA shall take into account the nature and seriousness of the infringement, having regard to the following criteria: (a) the duration and frequency of the infringement; (b) whether financial crime has been occasioned, facilitated or otherwise attributable to the infringement; (c) whether the infringement has been committed intentionally or negligently; (d) the degree of responsibility of the person responsible for the infringement; (e) the financial strength of the person responsible for the infringement, as indicated by the total turnover of the responsible legal person or the annual income and net assets of the responsible natural person; (f) the impact of the infringement on retail investors' interests; (g) the importance of the profits gained, losses avoided by the person responsible for the infringement or the losses for third parties derived from the infringement, insofar as they can be determined; (h)the level of cooperation of the person responsible for the infringement with ESMA, without prejudice to the need to ensure disgorgement of profits gained or losses avoided by that person; (i) previous infringements by the person responsible for the infringement; (j) measures taken after the infringement by the person responsible for the infringement to prevent its repetition".

²⁵⁰Ibid., article 51 (2), "ESMA shall withdraw the registration or the recognition of an external reviewer in the following circumstances:(a)the external reviewer has expressly renounced the registration or the recognition or has not made use of the registration or the recognition within 36 months after the registration or the recognition has been granted; (b)the external reviewer has obtained the registration or the recognition by making false statements or by any other irregular means; (c)the external reviewer no longer meets the conditions under which it was registered or recognized.".

²⁵¹Ibid., article 54 (1), "ESMA shall disclose to the public every fine and periodic penalty payment that has been imposed pursuant to Articles 52 and 53, unless such disclosure to the public would seriously jeopardize the financial markets or cause disproportionate damage to the parties involved. Such disclosure shall not contain personal data within the meaning of Regulation (EC) No 45/2001.".

benefit²⁵². While, an act or omission constitutes a combination of numerous breaches, only the fine for the highest fined breach shall be imposed²⁵³. As per the periodic penalties, these should be imposed for each day of delay and be amounted of 3% of the average daily turnover in the proceedings business year for legal entities or 2% of the average daily income in the preceding calendar year for natural persons²⁵⁴.

Above all, the ESMA by virtue of Article 58 of the EuGB Regulation may charge external reviewers on emerging costs, such as their registration, recognition and supervision. While supervisory fees shall cover the administrative costs incurred by the ESMA. Fees should be proportionate to the turnover of the external reviewer concerned ²⁵⁵. European Commission's Delegated Acts will specify additional issues concerning supervisory fees ²⁵⁶.

4. The first green bond issuance by the European Commission - "NextGenerationEU"

On 12 October 2021, the European Commission²⁵⁷ issued the first green bond, which is called "NextGenerationEU²⁵⁸" green bond. The EC raised €12 billion in order to foster green and sustainable investments across the EU. It seeks to give the green bond market another push, encouraging other issuers and providing investors with more differentiation options ²⁵⁹. It is noteworthy that, this contains the largest green bond issuance ever worldwide. The European Commission, with the issuance of that green bond, confirms its commitment to sustainable finance and carries a new highly rated and liquid green asset to the market providing access to green investment for a broad range of investors. Moreover, investors will be easily able to diversify their portfolios of green investments and possibly accelerating on sustainable investments. Lastly, the EC illustrated its extremely goodwill to promote the green bonds market and to become an inspiration to other issuers. Hence, the role of the European Union is strengthened; and the euro currency is being followed in

²⁵²Ibid., Article 52 (4).

²⁵³Ibid., Article 52 (5).

²⁵⁴Ibid., Article 53 (3).

²⁵⁵Ibid., Article 58 (1) - (2).

²⁵⁶Ibid., Article 58 (3).

²⁵⁷See European Commission (2021e).

²⁵⁸"NextGenerationEU" is a provisional recovery instrument. It is at the heart of the European Union (EU) response to the coronavirus crisis and indents to support the economic recovery and build a greener, more digital and more persistent future. See **European Commission (2021a)**.

²⁵⁹European Commission (2021g), p. 4.

the sustainable financial markets.

Section C. Concluding Remarks

Despite the lack of an articulate European legislative framework for green bonds, the Commission is taking a step forward in order to set a legislative framework for European green bonds, and to be the leader in the issuance of green bonds. The European Green Bond Regulation (EuGBR) aims to lay down a new 'gold standard' through the standardization of best market practices and the introduction of high standards for issuers and external reviewers.

In recent years, the European Commission has been vigorously concentrated on promoting sustainable finance in order to facilitate market participants to finance environmentally sustainable investments, and concurrently to contribute to climate change. The proposal regulation on European green bonds is expected to be adopted in 2022 following possible amendments that may take place under the ordinary legislative procedure. The EuGBR aspires to allow issuers to showcase their powerful environmental commitment in a reliable way and to provide investors with confidence that their investments are environmentally friendly and sustainable.

Furthermore, this proposal for a regulation seeks measures to remove the existing barriers to the development of the green bond market, such as the inconsistent application of disclosure and verification requirements and the lack of common definitions for green assets and projects. In order to develop the green bond market in the EU, the proposed regulation aspires to link the allocation of proceeds to the EU taxonomy, establishes challenging disclosure requirements and enforces external reviewers to be registered with and supervised by the ESMA.

The most remarkable characteristic of this proposed regulation is the establishment of a voluntary standard for green bonds at Union level rather than a mandatory one. In particular the EuGBR lays down uniform requirements for any bond issuer that wishes to call their bond a 'European green bond'. Also, it is notable that the EuGBR is related closely to other green bond standards, as mentioned above, (e.g. ICMA's Green Bond Principles, Climate Bonds Initiative's Climate Bonds Standard), since the European legislative act is builds upon the market best practices and it is designed to be compliant with existing market

standards for green bonds. Nevertheless, the EuGBR is moving forward in relation to some essential elements, such as the full alignment of funded projects with the EU Taxonomy and the establishment of a regime for the registration and supervision of external reviewers by the ESMA.

However, whether it will be established as the market standard in the European Union or not, it depends on o number of factors mainly related to market participants. Green bond issuers shall make a choice of whether to use the requirements of the EuGBR or the other green bond standards (e.g. ICMA's Green Bond Principles, Climate Bonds Initiative's Climate Bonds Standard). Key selection criteria will be the cost of the compliance with the requirements laid down in the EuGBR and mainly in the EU Taxonomy, since the cost may be burdensome for them in comparison with the existing market-based standards. Nonetheless, it is considered that it will be favorable for the green bond issued to be labeled 'EuGB' due to the enhanced disclosure requirements and strict verification arrangements laid down in the Regulation. The whole process of issuance will be transparent and reliable.

In conclusion, issuers and market participants in general it is necessary to weigh their risks and benefits²⁶⁰ and follow a credible standard that ensures that they will not be accused of 'greenwashing' due to the costs incurred in complying with additional disclosure requirements that are subject to the control of external reviewers under the supervision of the ESMA.

It remains to be seen the final form of the regulation on European green bonds that will be adopted in the coming months and the balances that will be formed in the market with a new strong standard of green bonds.

²⁶⁰ On the benefits from green bond issuance and also the potential costs, see **Tang D.Y. and Zhang Y.** (2018), p. 7 et seq.

Sources

A

Athens Stock Exchange: Bonds (2021), available at: https://www.athexgroup.gr/el/web/guest/bonds

B

Baker M., Bergstresser D., Serafeim M. and Wurgler J. (2018): Financing the response to climate change the pricing and ownership of U.S. green bonds, National Bureau of Economic Research, Working Paper 25194, October 2018, available online at: https://www.nber.org/system/files/working-papers/w25194/w25194.pdf

Barclays (2015): The cost of being Green, September 2015, available at: https://www.environmental-

finance.com/assets/files/US Credit Focus The Cost of Being Green.pdf

Busch D. (2021): Sustainability Disclosure in the EU Financial Sector, European Banking Institute Working Paper Series 2021 - n. 70, April 2021, Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3650407 or https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3650407

Climate Bonds Initiative (2019): Climate Bonds Standard, Version 3.0., December 2019, available at: https://www.climatebonds.net/files/reports/cbi_sotm_2019_vol1_04d.pdf

D

Deschryver P. and Mariz F. (2020): What Future for the Green Bond Market? How can Policymakers, Companies and Investors Unlock the Potential of the Green Bond Market? Journal of Risk and Financial Management, March 2020, available at: https://www.mdpi.com/1911-8074/13/3/61

E

Ehlers T. and Packer F. (2017): Green Bond finance and certification, BIS Quarterly Review, September 2017, available at: https://www.bis.org/publ/qtrpdf/r qt1709h.htm

European Banking Authority (2021): EBA advises the Commission on KPIs for transparency on institutions' environmentally sustainable activities, including a green asset ratio, March 2021, available at: https://www.eba.europa.eu/eba-advises-commission-kpis-transparency-institutions%E2%80%99-environmentally-sustainable-activities

European Commission (2015): Action Plan on Building a Capital Markets Union, Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Central Bank, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, COM/2015/0468 final, September 2015, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52015DC0468

European Commission (2018): Action Plan: Financing Sustainable Growth, Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Central Bank, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, COM/2018/097 final, March 2018, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52018DC0097

European Commission (2019): The European Green Deal, Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Central Bank, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, COM/2019/640 final, March 2019, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52019DC0640

European Commission (2020a): Stepping up Europe's 2030 climate ambition: Investing in a climate-neutral future for the benefit of our people, Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Central Bank, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, COM/2020/562 final, September 2020, available at: https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=COM:2020:562:FIN

European Commission (2020b): Financing a sustainability recovery with green bonds, Science for Policy Briefs, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/sites/default/files/jrc122441_gb_scienceforpolicybrief_revised 1.pdf

European Commission (2021a): Next Generation EU Green Bonds, April 2021, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/about_the_european_commission/eu_budge t/factsheet 2 green bonds 14.04.pdf

European Commission (2021b): EU Taxonomy, Corporate Sustainability Reporting, Sustainability Preferences and Fiduciary Duties: Directing finance towards the European Green Deal, Communication From the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, COM(2021) 188 final, April 2021, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ALL/?uri=COM:2021:188:FIN

European Commission (2021c): Strategy for Financing the Transition to a Sustainable Economy, Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Central Bank, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, COM/2021/390 final, July 2021, available

at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52021DC0390

European Commission (2021d): Fit for 55: delivering the EU's 2030 Climate Target on the way to climate neutrality, Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Central Bank, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, COM/2021/550 final, July 2021, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52021DC0550

European Commission (2021e): Next Generation EU – Green Bond Framework, Commission Staff Working Document, September 2021, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/about_the_european_commission/eu_budg et/nextgenerationeu green bond framework.pdf

European Commission (2021f): Press Release: Commission puts forward new strategy to make the EU's financial system more sustainable and proposes new European Green Bond Standard, July 2021, available at: file:///C:/Users/%CE%A3%CE%A4%CE%95%CE%9B%CE%99%CE%9F%CE%A3/D ownloads/Commission puts forward new strategy to make the EU s financial system more sustainable and proposes new European Green Bond Standard.pdf

European Commission (2021g): Commission Staff Working Document Next Generation EU - Green Bond Framework, September 2021, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/about_the_european_commission/eu_budget/n extgenerationeu green bond framework.pdf

European Council (2020): European Council meeting, December 2020, EUCO 22/20, available at: https://www.consilium.europa.eu/media/47296/1011-12-20-euco-conclusions-en.pdf

EU High-Level Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2018): Financing a Sustainable Economy, Final Report, January 2018, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/180131-sustainable-finance-final-report_en.pdf

EU Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2019a): Interim Report Proposal for an EU Green Bond Standard, March 2019, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/business_economy_euro/banking_and_finance/documents/190306-sustainable-finance-teg-interim-report-green-bond-standard_en_0.pdf

EU Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2019b): Report on EU Green Bond Standard, June 2019, available

at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/business_economy_euro/banking_and_fina nce/documents/190618-sustainable-finance-teg-report-green-bond-standard en.pdf

EU Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2020a): Financing a Sustainable European Economy, Technical Report, March 2020, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/business_economy_euro/banking_and_finance/documents/200309-sustainable-finance-teg-final-report-taxonomy_en.pdf

EU Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2020b): Financing a Sustainable European Economy, Usability Guide-EU Green bond Standard, March 2020, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/business_economy_euro/banking_and_finance/documents/200309-sustainable-finance-teg-green-bond-standard-usability-guide_en.pdf

EU Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2019c): Report on EU Green Bond Standard-Overview, June 2019, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/business_economy_euro/banking_and_finance/documents/190618-sustainable-finance-teg-report-overview-green-bond-standard_en.pdf

EU Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2020a): Financing a Sustainable European Economy, Technical Report, March 2020, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/business_economy_euro/banking_and_finance/documents/200309-sustainable-finance-teg-final-report-taxonomy_en.pdf

EU Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2020b): Financing a Sustainable European Economy, Usability Guide-EU Green bond Standard, March 2020, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/business_economy_euro/banking_and_finance/documents/200309-sustainable-finance-teg-green-bond-standard-usability-guide_en.pdf

F

Fatica S., Panzica R. and Rancan M., (2019): The pricing of green bonds: are financial institutions specials?, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, July 2019, available

at: https://reader.elsevier.com/reader/sd/pii/S1572308921000334?token=216F9F64FEE9

E000F9E196156C690AB33C21D563C35FEB78B3F601AE909FBCB6E267A9BF9B13
77D428C31CBE430727E7&originRegion=eu-west1&originCreation=20211118174858

Fatica S., Panzica R. (2020): Green bonds as a tool against climate change, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, October 2020, available at: https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/JRC121894

Flammer C. (2021): Corporate green bonds, Journal of Financial Economics, January 2021, available at: https://sites.bu.edu/cflammer/files/2021/02/Corporate-Green-Bonds Flammer JFE forthcoming.pdf

 \mathbf{G}

Gortsos Ch.V. (2020): The Evolution of European (EU) Banking Law under the Influence of (Public) International Banking Law: A Comprehensive Overview (Third fully updated edition), December 2020, Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3334493 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3334493

Gortsos Ch.V. (2021): The Taxonomy Regulation: More important Than Just as an Element of the Capital Markets Union, European Banking Institute Working Paper Series 2020 - no. 80, Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3750039 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3750039

G20 Green Finance Study Group (2016): G20 Green Finance Synthesis Report, July 2016, available at: http://www.g20.utoronto.ca/2016/green-finance-synthesis.pdf

G20 Green Finance Study Group (2018): G20 Green Finance Synthesis Report, July 2018, available at: https://g20sfwg.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/2018 Synthesis Report Summary EN.pdf

G20 Green Finance Study Group (2021): G20 Green Finance Synthesis Report, July 2021, available at: https://www.g20.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/G20-SFWG-Synthesis-Report.pdf

Group of Experts on radiation, protection and waste management (2021): Opinion of the Group of Experts referred to in Article 31 of the Euratom Treaty on the Joint Research Centre's Report: Technical assessment of nuclear energy with respect to the "do not

significantly harm" criteria of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 ("Taxonomy Regulation"), June 2021,
available at: https://ec.europa.eu/energy/sites/default/files/opinion_of_article_31_goe_on_the_jrc_r eport 28 june 2021.pdf

I

International Capital Markets Association (2018): Green Bond Principles, Voluntary Process Guidelines for Issuing Green Bonds, June 2018, available at: https://www.icmagroup.org/assets/documents/Regulatory/Green-Bonds/Green-Bonds-Principles-June-2018-270520.pdf

International Capital Markets Association (2021a): Guidelines for Green, Social, Sustainability and Sustainability-Linked Bonds External Reviews, February 2021, available at: https://www.icmagroup.org/assets/documents/Sustainable-finance/Guidelines-for-GreenSocialSustainability-and-Sustainability-Linked-Bonds-External-Reviews-February-2021-170221.pdf

International Capital Markets Association (2021b): Green Bond Principles, Voluntary Process Guidelines for Issuing Green Bonds, June 2021, available at: https://www.icmagroup.org/assets/documents/Sustainable-finance/2021-updates/Green-Bond-Principles-June-2021-140621.pdf

International Capital Markets Association (2021c): Social Bond Principles, Voluntary Process Guidelines for Issuing Social Bonds, June 2021, available at: https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/6fb7d3be-9e88-49a1-bbca-c28c1ccaa7ca/SBP+June+2021.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CVID=nDR.lQ9

International Capital Markets Association (2021d): Sustainability Bonds Guidelines, June 2021, available at: https://www.icmagroup.org/assets/documents/Sustainable-finance/2021-updates/Sustainability-Bond-Guidelines-June-2021-140621.pdf

International Capital Markets Association (2021e): Analysis of the draft EuGB Regulation, July 2021, available at: https://www.icmagroup.org/assets/documents/Sustainable-finance/Responses/ICMA-analysis-of-the-EuGB-Regulation-080721.pdf

Joint Research Centre (2021): Technical assessment of nuclear energy with respect to the "do not significantly harm" criteria of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 ('Taxonomy Regulation'), March 2021, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/business_economy_euro/banking_and_fina nce/documents/210329-jrc-report-nuclear-energy-assessment en.pdf

K

Karpf A. and Mandel A. (2017): Does it pay to be green? A comparative of the Yield Term Structure of Green and Brown Bonds in the US Municipal Bonds Market, University of Pantheon-Sorbonne Paris I, February 2021, available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2923484 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2923484

L

Larcker D.F. and Watts E. (2019): Where's the Greenium?, Rock Center for Corporate Governance at Stanford University Working Paper No. 239, Stanford University Graduate School of Business Research Paper No. 19-14, Journal of Accounting and Economics, Volume 69, Issues 2–3, April–May 2020, 101312, Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3333847 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3333847

Lehmann A. (2021): The EU green bond standard: sensible implementation could define a new asset class, Bruegel, July 2021, available at: https://www.bruegel.org/2021/07/the-eu-green-bond-standard-sensible-implementation-could-define-a-new-asset-class/

M

Mazzacurati J., Paris W. and Tsiotras A. (2021): Environmental impact and liquidity of green bonds, in ESMA Report on Trends, Risks and Vulnerabilities, No 2, September 2021, available at: https://www.esma.europa.eu/sites/default/files/library/esma50-165-1842 trv2-2021.pdf

N

Maragopoulos N. (2021): Towards a European Green Bond: A Commission's proposal to promote sustainable finance, September 2021. European Banking Institute Working Paper

Series 2021 - no. 103, Available at

SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3933766 or https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3933766

P

Platform on Sustainable Finance (2021a): Draft Report by Subgroup 4, Social Taxonomy, July 2021, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/business economy euro/banking and fina nce/documents/sf-draft-report-social-taxonomy-july2021 en.pdf

Platform on Sustainable Finance (2021b): Taxonomy pack for feedback, August 2021, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/business_economy_euro/banking_and_finance/documents/2021-technical-screening-criteria-taxonomy-report-call-for-feedback-document_en.pdf

 \mathbf{S}

Schmittmann J. and Teng C.H. (2021): How Green are Green Debt Issuers? IMF Working Paper, July 2021, available at: https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WP/Issues/2021/07/23/How-Green-are-Green-Debt-Issuers-462142

Scientific Committee on Health, **Environmental** and **Emerging** Risks (2021): SCHEER review of the JRC report on Technical assessment of nuclear energy with respect to the "do not significantly harm" criteria of Regulation (EU) 2020/852('Taxonomy Regulation'), 2021, available June at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/business economy euro/banking and fina nce/documents/210629-nuclear-energy-jrc-review-scheer-report en.pdf

 \mathbf{T}

Tang D.Y. and Zhang Y. (2018): Do shareholders benefit from Green Bonds?, November 2018, available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3259555

Thomson S. (2021): Green and Sustainable Finance: Principles and Practice - Chartered Banker Series, March 2021.

The World Bank (2018): From Evolution to Revolution: 10 Years of Green Bonds (2018 November, available at: https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2018/11/27/from-evolution-to-revolution-10-years-of-green-bonds